

A report of the United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation to the General Assembly, with annexes

VOLUME II: EFFECTS





UNITED NATIONS New York, 1972

NOTE

The report of the Committee without its appendices and annexes appears as Official Records of the General Assembly, Twenty-seventh Session, Supplement No. 25 (A/8725).

In the text of each annex, Arabic numbers in parenthesis refer to sources listed at the end.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country or territory or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers.

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.

UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATION Sales No.: E.72.IX.18

Price: \$U.S. 7.00 (or equivalent in other currencies)

Annex G

EXPERIMENTAL INDUCTION OF NEOPLASMS BY RADIATION

CONTENTS

		Paragraphs
INTRODUCTION		1–2
I.	THE ROLE OF ANIMAL EXPERIMENTS IN PRE- DICTING RADIATION CARCINOGENESIS IN MAN	3-18
п.	IMPORTANCE OF RADIATION CARCINOGENESIS FOR LIFE-SHORTENING EFFECTS OF RADIA- TION	19–20
III.	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF SPECIFIC DISEASE INCIDENCE IN SURVIVAL EXPERIMENTS	21–23
IV.	Special problems of internal emitters	24-26
v.	TISSUES AT RISK	27–30
VI.	Dose-effect relations	31-40

	_	
VII.	RELATIVE BIOLOGICAL EFFECTIVENESS (RBE)	41-46
VIII.	EFFECT OF DOSE RATE	47–50
IX.	DEPENDENCE OF SENSITIVITY ON AGE	51–56
X.	DIFFERENCES IN SENSITIVITY BETWEEN STRAINS AND BETWEEN SPECIES	57–59
XI.	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	60–61
XII.	AREAS OF MAJOR EMPHASIS FOR FUTURE STUDIES	6264
	REFERENCES	Page 394

Paragraphy

Introduction

1. From the time of the initial observations that radiation causes tissue damage and subsequently cancer (66, 67), animal experiments have been designed and carried out (119, 120) in an attempt to understand better the mechanisms of radiation-induced injury and predict the carcinogenic effects of radiation in man. The older literature has been reviewed by Colwell and Russ (28), Furth and Lorenz (53), Furth and Upton (54), and Lacassagne (101, 102). More recently, the Committee has reviewed the subject (182) and reviews have been published by Casarett (19). Moskalev and Streltsova (135), Upton (185, 187) and Van Cleave (201).

2. It is not the purpose of this annex to review exhaustively the literature but rather to evaluate the present understanding of some of the basic principles of experimental radiation carcinogenesis which could lead to a better predictability of radiation effects in man. Direct assessments of the reliability of existing standards for radiation protection in man will not be made, but the review will indicate what useful data exist or could be developed from experiments on animals. It is recognized that radiation is but one of several important ætiological agents known to induce or accelerate neoplasms in man and while many of the principles discussed in this review are of general significance to carcinogenesis, studies on viral and chemical carcinogenesis have in general not been reviewed.

I. The role of animal experiments in predicting radiation carcinogenesis in man

3. While medicine has frequently turned to animal experiments for assistance in solving problems of human disease, the validity of animal models for studying human disease has often been questioned. It is well

known that inherent differences exist among the many neoplasms in experimental animals used in the study of radiation carcinogenesis. Not only are the life spans and tumour latencies different, but the type of tumours induced or accelerated by radiation vary markedly from species to species and even from strain to strain of the same species. Such variability leads to considerable difficulty in extending conclusions from experimental animals to man. Nonetheless, the development of neoplasms appears to be qualitatively similar in man and in those experimental animals that have been studied. Thus, the epidemiological data on radiation carcinogenesis in man, when evaluated in the light of conclusions developed from experimental studies, can lead to a better understanding of the risk to man from exposure to radiation. There are three basic methods for developing experimental data which will be useful for evaluation of such risks in man; these are outlined in paragraphs 4-7.

4. The most useful method entails the study of neoplasms in experimental animals that respond to radiation in a manner qualitatively and quantitatively comparable to their counterpart in man. Unfortunately, directly comparable neoplasms are not well documented in radiation carcinogenesis since considerable amounts of data are required from humans to validate the authenticity of the animal data. Perhaps the best documented model system is osteosarcoma induction by ²²⁶Ra in beagle dogs (40, 122) but even here considerable uncertainty is involved in producing quantitative inferences applicable to man. Another animal model system is radiation-induced myelogenous leukæmia in RF mice (192), which has many of the qualitative characteristics of human chronic granulocytic leukæmia. No quantitative relations have been demonstrated and some qualitative characteristics of the murine disease, such as its dependence on the microbial environment (209), have not yet been documented in man.

5. Another method of developing experimental data which are of value in estimating the risk of radiation to man is the establishment of useful generalizations as described by Mole (134). Qualitative generalizations are particularly useful when all types of neoplastic diseases show the same patterns in all species. There are three such generalizations apparent from existing data, although some exceptions have been noted in the literature: high-LET radiations (that is, those radiations which deposit large amounts of energy per unit length of track, e.g., fission neutrons, alpha particles) are more effective in inducing neoplasms than low-LET radiations (e.g., x rays, gamma rays); the incidence of such neoplasms generally increases with dose up to some maximum incidence; and for low-LET radiations, lower dose rates are less effective in inducing neoplasms than higher dose rates. These generalizations appear independent of species and hold true for most, if not all, of the radiation-induced neoplasms that have been adequately studied.

6. Quantitative generalizations are not as easily apparent and none are immediately obvious from experimental animal data. Measurements of RBE (Relative Biological Effectiveness, the inverse ratio of the absorbed dose from one radiation type to that of a reference radiation required to produce the same degree of a stipulated effect) vary considerably; the reduced effectiveness of low-dose-rate radiation is also variable; and dose-effect relations are not only quantitatively different but the shapes of the dose-response curves appear to vary from one neoplasm to another. Such quantitative generalizations require either that the characteristic measured not vary with species and type of neoplasm or that it vary according to some fixed relation with some other quantifiable variable such as body weight, metabolic rate, rate of synthesis of DNA, etc. Were such a relationship established, the neoplastic response in man could be predicted by relating it to the non-neoplastic response. Thus every attempt should be made to develop such quantitative relationships.

7. Perhaps the most useful application of experimental animal data is to clarify the mechanisms of radiation carcinogenesis. As early as 10 years ago, currently popular theories on the mechanisms of radiation carcinogenesis were well developed and discussions about how to clarify their relative importance were common (see discussions in reference 69). Although considerable effort has been directed to the problem over the last decade, the mechanisms of radiation carcinogenesis remain obscure. The design, execution, and analysis of definitive studies on radiation carcinogenesis have proved to be extremely difficult. To be conclusive, many of these studies require large numbers of animals which must be examined minutely for pathology at death and the results analysed statistically to adjust for competing probabilities of other causes of death (see paragraph 22). Frequently, scientists designing animal studies with large sample sizes use only survival as an end-point and those carefully analysing pathology at death design experiments with inadequate sample sizes. Few have properly corrected the data for intercurrent mortality before drawing conclusions. However, when combined, consistent reports of an effect obtained with small sample sizes can give weight to useful qualitative generalizations.

8. One of the principal general theories of carcinogenesis is the two-step mechanism proposed by Beren-

blum (6). Such a mechanism has been considered for chemical carcinogenesis for many years, but only recently have data begun to suggest a similar mechanism for radiation carcinogenesis. Croton oil, a potent promoter of chemically-induced skin tumours, effectively enhances the induction of skin tumours by some (44, 176), but not all (16), types of radiation. It has also been identified as a promoter of murine thymic lymphosarcoma following exposure to moderate doses of x rays (86). The enhancement of radiation-induced thymic lymphosarcoma in mice treated with urethan has been reviewed by Vesselinovitch (205). Berenblum et al. (7) have recently shown that x rays, in doses not normally leukæmogenic, serve as an initiating treatment when followed by adequate doses of the promoter urethan, the increase in effect being generally related to increase in radiation dose. A similar initiating effect of radiation has been described for production of lung tumours in mice treated with urethan (23, 108, 227). Interactions of radiation with other carcinogens have resulted either in an increased incidence of tumours (75, 109, 136, 169, 200, 224, 232, 236), or in no change, or in decreased incidence (99, 167, 200, 224), depending on the carcinogen and tumour system studied and the dose and dosage schedule used.

9. Another general theory of interest to the mechanism of radiation carcinogenesis involves the interaction of energy at the intracellular level. Through a series of theoretical considerations and examination of experimental data, Rossi (160) and Kellerer and Rossi (98) have concluded that a number of radiobiological effects are due to primary lesions within the cell nucleus produced by as few as one particle, in the case of neutrons having energies up to about 14 MeV, or by two or more electrons, in the case of x and gamma rays, and, further, that the elemental lesion results from dual damage within a site by inactivation of two loci. These conclusions would predict a much greater reduction in effect at low doses for x and gamma rays than for neutrons, and an RBE that increases inversely with x-ray dose as has been demonstrated for breast tumours in rats (161) (see paragraphs 35 and 41). It is not clear how such events relate to the general mechanisms of radiation carcinogenesis discussed above (paragraph 8) but the implications for dose-effect relationships and RBE for radiation-induced neoplasms must be considered.

10. Theories of the mechanisms of radiation carcinogenesis which best fit the existing data involve both initiating and promoting events. Initiating mechanisms concern immediate events occurring during the interaction of radiation with cellular macromolecules. The principal initiating mechanisms are release or activation of oncogenic virus and induction of somatic mutations, mechanisms which may be, but are not necessarily. exclusive. The principal promoting mechanisms are increase in cell replication and decrease in immune competence, both of which may be operating concurrently but independently.

11. The role of leukæmogenic viruses in radiationinduced murine leukæmia has been reviewed repeatedly (42, 95, 113, 188) and has been thoroughly discussed by the participants of the 1966 Conference on Murine Leukæmia (29). The early work of Kaplan with C57BL thymic lymphosarcoma and of Upton with RF myeloid leukæmia clearly established a viral mechanism as one of the important factors in the induction of

murine leukæmias by radiation. The significance of numerous host and environmental factors (193) in the development of murine leukæmia suggests the importance of viral interaction with a number of other factors. Strain susceptibility in mice may be more closely related to factors other than virus release, since the release of C-type particles has been demonstrated in resistant strains of mice after x-irradiation at doses which do not induce significant amounts of leukæmia (64). An infectious virus capable of inducing osteogenic sarcoma in mice has been isolated (49), suggesting that there may also be a relationship between radiation-induced osteosarcoma and virus release. On the other hand, 90Sr-induced osteosarcomas of CBA mice have few demonstrable virus particles (145, 181) and low antigenicity (147), suggesting that oncogenic virus may not always be involved in the ætiology of these tumours. The importance of virus activation and release for other radiation-induced neoplasms has not been identified and visible viruses ("C-type particles") have not yet been demonstrated after irradiation or in neoplastic tissue of germ-free rats, although germfree mice have an abundance of such particles (92). Young adult rats are susceptible to leukæmia induction following radiation if injected with rat-adapted passage-A Gross virus but not if treated with radiation or the virus alone (216).

12. Radiation carcinogenesis has also been explained on the basis of radiation damage to nucleic acids and its effect on information contained in the genetic material of the cell (45, 68). The relationship of such somatic mutations to radiation-induction of neoplasms has been recently reviewed by the Committee (183). In summary, the support for this theory derives from the observation that radiation induces both chromosome aberrations and neoplasms and that chromosome changes have been demonstrated in most of the tumours studied. There are few or no quantitative data that would permit correlation of incidence of chromosomal abnormalities (or gene mutations) with incidence of neoplasia following exposure to radiation. Moreover, such a direct quantitative relationship may never be found if the complex. multi-step, pathogenesis suggested for radiation-induced diseases is correct (25, 34).

13. Interest in the immunological reactions associated with neoplasia has been heightened by the discovery of tumour-specific antigens (i.e., surface antigens not present on normal cells of the adult host). Cells carrying these antigens are capable of stimulating an immune response. These observations have led to the concept of immunological surveillance (see annex F, paragraph 247), which proposes a continuing eradication of emerging, potentially neoplastic cells. A thorough review of the current status of the relation of immunity and tolerance in oncogenesis has been published in the Proceedings of the IV Perugia Quadrennial International Conference on Cancer (168). Recent data on tumour-specific antigens and their relation to immunotherapy of cancer have also been reviewed (2).

14. The relation between radiation-induced immunosuppression and radiation-induced neoplasia is reviewed by the Committee in annex F of the present report. There is abundant evidence to show that immunosuppression is not the sole factor in radiation carcinogenesis and the relative contribution of immune suppression to the complex chain of events resulting in radiation-induced neoplasms has not been determined. As with viral and chemical inducers of neoplasia, radiation results in a transient immunosuppression during what is thought to be a critical period in development of neoplastic cells. The selection of radiation-induced murine leukæmia to study this hypothesis may have been unfortunate since the neoplasm arises out of the same tissue that produces antibodies. Increased cell proliferation of the lymphopoietic organs follows radiation-induced immunosuppression and the importance of this to radiation leukæmogenesis has been reviewed (95) (see paragraph 16). The relative importance of these two mechanisms cannot be determined with this model system.

15. Indirect evidence supporting the importance of immunosuppression has been reviewed by Cole and Nowell (26) and includes such general phenomena as immunosuppression induced by carcinogens, including radiation; increased tumour incidence following immunosuppression; and increased ease of transplanting tumours in immunosuppressed animals. It is interesting that the principal neoplasm observed in immunologic deficiency states in experimental animals (26, 100) and man (151) is lymphoma and that the greatest increase of all types of tumours following immunosuppression for organ transplantation in man is reticulum-cell sarcoma (151). Nonetheless, it has been clearly demonstrated that immunosuppression by radiation and other treatments permits more rapid growth of neoplastic cells, results in more metastases, and permits transplantation across weak histocompatibility barriers (2, 26, 100, 168; see also this report, annex F). Therefore, depending on the antigenicity of radiation-induced tumours, immunosuppression may play a significant role in the rate of growth and rate of metastasis of such tumours, and may determine the tumour latency and final incidence, and the rate of survival of irradiated animals.

16. Another important promoting mechanism of radiation-induced neoplasia is increase in cellular proliferation. Some aspects of the relation between cellular proliferation and neoplasia have been reviewed by Reiskin (156). In summary, numerous chemical carcinogens cause a reduction in DNA synthesis and cell division, followed by recovery characterized by increased cell division. Mean duration of the DNA synthetic period remains normal but the number of cells synthesizing DNA increases. These observations are further supported by the generalization that rapidly proliferating tissues are more responsive to carcinogens than their more slowly proliferating counterparts. There are some tissues which are not covered by this generalization, and the exceptional behaviour of some of them, such as intestinal epithelium, may be explained by loss of potentially neoplastic cells through physiological mechanisms (110). Treatments which induce cell proliferation frequently increase the incidence of neoplasms in irradiated tissue as well. Data on the following radiation-induced tumours support the importance of cell proliferation for expression of radiation-induced neoplasms: mammary-gland neoplasms of the rat (52); bone tumours in the shaft of fractured long bones in some (225, 226) but not all cases (59): ⁹⁰Sr-induced bone tumours in mice following estrogen treatment (144); thyroid tumours in rats following goiterogen treatment (39, 109); thymic lymphoma alone (95, 166) and following urethan treatment (7); kidney cortical adenomas following uninephrectomy (27) and necrotizing doses of x rays (117); lung tumours following urethan (8) and following exposure to radon in the presence of irritating dusts (21, 152); hepatomas following injection of carbon tetrachloride (24); liver tumours following hepatic deposition of thorotrast (175); and stomach tumours following necrotizing doses of x rays (71).

17. Attempts to clarify the relative importance of these various hypothetical mechanisms have included studies with chemical and cellular protection against the late somatic effects of radiation. Most of these experiments (13, 73, 103, 116, 127) have given conflicting results largely because of small sample sizes, inadequate description of tumour sites and lack of correction for causes of competing mortality. The data. however, do show that isogenic bone marrow is highly effective at preventing radiation-induced thymic lymphoma (97) but less effective at preventing the development of other late-occurring tumours (31). Chemical protective agents are also able to reduce the incidence of radiation-induced thymic lymphoma following single exposures to x radiation (115, 233) and of other leukæmias with fractionated radiation (139). Chemical protection does not appear to be effective against the induction of non-reticular tumours resulting from whole-body exposure to radiation but interpretation of these data is obscured by competing probabilities of other causes of death because these tumours occur later in life. When local irradiation is used, however, there appears to be protection against radiation-induction of kidney (43) and breast tumours (174). More data will be required, however, before experiments of this sort are able to clarify the mechanism of radiation carcinogenesis.

18. In summary, it seems quite possible that all the mechanisms identified above play some role in radiation carcinogenesis, but the relative contribution has not been assessed and may vary from case to case.

II. Importance of radiation carcinogenesis for life-shortening effects of radiation

19. The general principle that radiation-induced life shortening is due not to the induction of specific diseases but to the advancement in time of all causes of death is derived from analysis of two large, carefully designed and executed, studies on the late somatic effects of radiation in mice (105, 106, 194) where the mean age at death for every disease was reduced by x-irradiation. Corrections for intercurrent mortality were made for some of the data (percentage incidence of some specific diseases) but adjustments for mean age at death of the corrected data were not presented. It has been suggested that this consistently-reduced mean age at death for all diseases is a statistical artifact (see paragraph 22), and the importance of serial killing to provide end-points free from alterations due to survival has been emphasized (3).

20. Preliminary analysis of the survival of RFM male mice exposed to 300 roentgens of x rays at 5-6 weeks of age suggests that virtually all the life-shortening effects of the x-irradiation can be ascribed to induction of neoplasia (210). In this experiment it was also shown that radiation did not significantly alter the cumulative survival curve for mortality from reticulum-cell sarcoma when the data were properly corrected for mortality from other causes. It was also noted that the mean ages at death for mice dying

with this or other non-radiation-induced diseases were not significantly different when corrected data were used for the calculations but were reduced in the irradiated groups when such corrections were not made (208). Although radiation can reduce the life span of animals by inducing non-neoplastic diseases, the greater importance of radiation-induced neoplasms has been noted in animals continuously exposed to neutrons (132) and ⁶⁰Co-gamma radiation (60) and in animals carrying internally-deposited radio-nuclides (18) when doses (and dose rates) were low. Additional data from larger experiments will be required to verify the observation that specific diseases, principally neoplasms, are responsible for life-shortening after exposure to moderate to low doses of radiation.

III. Statistical analysis of specific disease incidence in survival experiments

21. Failure to analyse properly data from survival experiments seriously weakens the conclusions that can be drawn. The common rules, including clear statement of hypothesis, proper experimental design (particularly, adequate sample sizes), adequate accumulation and recording of data and statistical analysis of the data with particular reference to testing for significance, must be applied before accepting or rejecting the hypothesis on which the experiment is founded. These rules have been particularly difficult to apply to animal survival experiments because of the duration and biological variability inherent in such experiments, but the rules must be applied nevertheless. The use of computer data storage and retrieval systems coupled with statistical analysis and testing by computer (see reference 63, for example) permit easier handling of these complex data.

22. An additional problem in analysis of survival experiments is posed by competing probabilities of other causes of death. It has long been recognized that the final incidences of late-occurring diseases are seriously affected by mortality rates from early-occurring diseases. Despite this, data obtained at necropsy are usually presented as the observed incidence of a specific disease and the mean age at death of animals dying with that disease. Such incidences are also used for computing RBE and dose-reduction factors due to protraction of radiation and for describing dose-response curves despite recommendations to the contrary (47, 132). The extreme variability of these radiation parameters is due in part to the use of such uncorrected data. Various actuarial techniques are available for correction of mortality from a lethal disease (e.g., 35, 93) and should be used. The Committee has based its conclusions almost exclusively on data which have not been obscured by intercurrent mortality. In most cases this has been accomplished by using data corrected for competing risks, data for diseases occurring early in life, such as thymic lymphoma where perturbations from other diseases are relatively minor, or data from serial-sacrifice experiments. Occasionally, uncorrected data for late-occurring tumours are referred to if the mortality patterns for all causes of death are similar in the groups being compared.

23. Another possible source of error in statistical analysis is the use of the actuarial techniques designed for assessing causes of death (paragraph 22) with nonlethal diseases such as benign tumours. Changes in mortality pattern due to lethal diseases can be shown to alter age-specific incidence rates of non-lethal diseases such as ovarian cysts and small pulmonary adenomas. Use of appropriate statistical techniques for correction of competing risks in the case of both lethal and nonlethal diseases has been described by Hoel and Walburg (72).

IV. Special problems of internal emitters

24. Considerable animal experimentation has been carried out in the last decade in an attempt to predict the effects of internally-deposited radio-isotopes in man. In assessing the experimental data, there are several difficulties in interpretation which must be considered. The principal problem is the determination of dose to the susceptible cell population. Different isotopes localize in different tissues to different extents-depending on route of introduction, species. age, and other physiological and environmental variables. In addition, deposited radio-isotopes are involved in the normal metabolic and replacement mechanisms of the body which proceed at varying rates in different hosts and environments. Without measurement of dose to the tissue at risk it is difficult to determine such quantitative factors as dose-response curves, dose-reduction factors for protracted radiation, and RBE (see reference 18 for discussion). Recent attempts have been made to measure the dose to various regions of an organ (principally bone). Both theoretical considerations (121, 228) and direct measurement of linear path length with packed lithium-fluoride thermoluminescent dosemeters (177) and quantitative auto-radiography (70) have been investigated. Considerably more data on dose distribution of internal emitters and structural characteristics of tissues from experimental animals and man are required before a confident comparison of effects in experimental animals and man can be developed.

25. An additional problem is that the susceptible cells are exposed to continuous irradiation at variable dose rates depending on the replacement or metabolic changes and physical half-life of the radio-isotope studied. The dose-response relationships of radiationinduced neoplasms are often difficult to determine for internal emitters because the dose and dose-rate effects cannot be isolated from one another, although it has been shown in some cases that the total accumulated dose is more important than the initial dose rate (146, 202). It is clear that when an animal is continuously irradiated (externally or internally) until death, the cumulative dose received by a tissue contains a component of "wasted radiation", i.e., radiation in excess of that required to produce the effect being measured (9, 49, 128). In addition, survival time may be affected by the radiation administered during the development of an ultimately fatal pathological process (49, 134). Because of these indeterminates, it becomes essential to define the parameters involved in assessing quantitative radiation factors. For example, the RBE for external whole-body irradiation describes the relative effectiveness of different qualities of radiation. An RBE for internal emitters, on the other hand, depends not only on radiation quality but also on differences in distribution, dose rate, etc. Doseeffect curves and dose-reduction factors are often calculated on the basis of the "mean skeletal dose", but it appears that for osteoblastic osteosarcomas it is the dose delivered to cells on the surface of the bone that is important (see paragraph 28). It would be helpful if the data from experiments on late somatic effects of

internal emitters were presented in a uniform manner by different investigators and if more accurate determinations of dose to the tissue at risk could be performed. As will be discussed subsequently, generalizations drawn from data on neoplasms induced by external radiation seem to apply equally well to data on neoplasms induced by internally-deposited radionuclides, suggesting that when dosage patterns are comparable to those for external radiation, internal emitters produce similar results (18).

26. An equation relating known experimental data from animals to the observed effects of 226 Ra in man has been used to extrapolate data for other internallydeposited radio-nuclides from animals to man. Thus the ratio of the accumulated absorbed doses of radiation from radio-nuclide X to those from 226 Ra that give equal effect in an experimental animal is equated to the ratio of the corresponding doses of radiation in man:

dose from X in animal		dose from X in man				
dose from ²²⁶ Ra in animal	=	dose from 226Ra in a				

Parameters in the experimental animal can be determined, leaving "dose from X in man" as the unknown for which the equation is solved (41, 49). This equation carries the assumption that the ratio of absorbed doses which produce equal effects for different radionuclides will be the same in man and in the experimental animal, independent of promoting host factors which might act differentially, an assumption that at present remains unproved.

V. Tissues at risk

27. As noted in a previous Committee report (182), neoplasia is apparently induced if sufficient radiation is administered to almost any tissue. Induction of neoplasms in various tissues has been recently reviewed (187). The most frequently studied tumours induced by whole-body exposure to external radiation are thymic lymphosarcoma and granulocytic leukæmia in mice and tumours of the endocrine system (particularly of the female) including tumours of the breast, pituitary, thyroid, adrenal and ovary. Considerable attention has also been paid to tumours induced by internally-deposited radio-nuclides including bone, lung and liver tumours. Most of these tumours are common after exposure to doses of radiation in the 100-1.000-rad range. Recent data support the concept that even highly-resistant tissues can be stimulated to form neoplasms. Carcinoma of the œsophagus in mice following 60Co wire implantation (56). bronchial adenocarcinomas in rats following high x-ray doses to the lung (65), intestinal neoplasms in mice following whole-body x- and neutron-irradiation (33), ovarian neoplasms in dogs following fractionated x-ray doses (4), and tumours of the central nervous system following implantation of radio-active pellets (88, 220, 221) have been documented. None of the tumours of the central nervous system have arisen from adult neuronal tissue. As previously noted (182), although neoplasms arise most commonly in proliferating tissues, among different tissues no simple relationship between rate of cellular proliferation and tissue sensitivity exists (85). However, for any one tissue, an increase in cell proliferation appears to increase the incidence of radiation-induced neoplasms (see paragraph 16).

28. The extensive literature on tissues at risk of tumour induction by radiation from internal emitters has been repeatedly discussed (10, 18, 109, 123, 135, 229). In general, neoplastic effects depend on the distribution of the radio-nuclide and its radiation energy, susceptible cells within range of the radiation providing the site of origin of the neoplasm. Particular interest has been focused on the tissue of origin of osteogenic sarcomas. The subject has recently been reviewed (84, 204). The conclusion of these reports and of recent experimental data (211, 215) is that the principal cells at risk are the endosteal pre-osteoblasts and/or osteoblasts, although the site varies with the site of osteonecrosis and its resultant bone resorption and osteoblastic activity (78, 226). The clearest description of events preceding development of a grossly observable bone tumour following treatment with ⁹⁰Sr has been provided by Nilsson (141). The initial event is cell death followed by increased bone resorption and increase in number of osteoblasts, then by an increase in non-neoplastic fibroblastic and osteoblastic proliferation within the resorption cavities or along the endosteal linings and finally by the development of microscopically and then macroscopically-visible osteosarcomas, both fibroblastic and osteoblastic. This pathogenesis demonstrates the importance of localization of radio-nuclides and, for induction of osteosarcomas, explains the greater effectiveness of surface seekers compared to those radio-nuclides that have a more diffuse distribution in bone.

29. The relative importance of leukæmia and osteosarcoma for radio-nuclides deposited in bone has also received considerable attention. There appears to be a dependence on total accumulated dose, quality and dose rate of radiation, as well as a strain and species sensitivity. Radio-nuclides emitting short-range alpha particles are more effective in producing osteosarcomas than leukæmia (57, 84). Single doses of long-range beta emitters, which expose the endosteum to large doses of radiation in short periods of time, principally cause osteosarcomas (11, 76, 111, 126, 141). On the other hand, leukæmoid reactions and myelogenous leukæmia predominate when long-range beta emitters are administered continuously (57, 76, 111, 126, 231) or in single low-dose injections (12, 142), presumably because of the resultant low dose rates. Rats, dogs, and pigs have a high sensitivity to induction of leukæmia. Mice and rabbits, on the other hand, have a low sensitivity (84, 111) although non-thymic lymphoma can be induced by ⁹⁰Sr in some strains (87, 143). Even mice, which characteristically have a high incidence of myelogenous leukæmia after whole-body x-irradiation, appear refractory to induction of these leukæmias following ⁹⁰Sr injection (30).

30. A similar interest exists in defining the sensitive cell population in skin-tumour induction. Although there is no correlation between general skin damage and tumour induction for some radiation (81, 154), careful studies have demonstrated a close correlation between damage to the hair follicles and the induction of skin tumours (1. 17). It has also been shown that development of carcinomas in the mucous membranes of the head of mice injected with ⁹⁰Sr is preceded by enhanced mitotic activity and dysplasia in the *stratum* germinativum of the epidermis (140).

VI. Dose-effect relations

31. Characterization of the dose-response curves for radiation-induced neoplasms is essential for pre-

dicting effects of exposure to radiation at levels too low to examine experimentally (see paragraph 39). The theoretical curves which might be expected and cannot be excluded by presently available experimental data are linear, quadratic, sigmoid, or some other with a slowly-increasing response to increasing dose as shown in figure I (85). The shape of a dose-



Figure I. Different kinds of dose-response relationship

response curve can be altered not only by differences in radiation quality and related experimental variables but especially by the end-point used as the indicator of response. For example, use of final uncorrected incidences of a late-occurring tumour may give a decidedly different dose-response curve from use of incidences of animals carrying the tumour in mid-life, as determined by serial-killing experiments. Attempts to verify one or another of the initiating mechanisms of radiation carcinogenesis by the shape of the doseresponse curve do not appear reasonable in the light of the many promoting influences which appear to be operating from the internal and external environment of the experimental animal.

32. Of particular interest to the selection of appropriate end-points is the question of induction versus acceleration. It is generally agreed that if a neoplasm occurs spontaneously with high incidence (e.g., breast tumours in Sprague-Dawley rats). then radiation acts principally by changing the time of onset or latency of the neoplasm. The continuing increase with time in probability of death from a specific neoplasm is often interrupted by death of the animals because of unrelated diseases. Therefore, the final incidence is determined not only by the mortality rate

from the neoplasm of interest but by that from other unrelated diseases as well. Even when neoplasms occur spontaneously late in life with a small but continuously increasing probability, the earlier occurrence and increased incidence of these neoplasms in irradiated populations may be due to acceleration rather than induction. Thus, some measure of acceleration, e.g., the mean age at death corrected for competing probabilities of other causes of death may be a more appropriate end-point than the corresponding final incidence.

33. Whether tumours are induced or are accelerated, one apparent effect of increasing dose is to decrease latency, where this term is defined as "time from application of radiation to observation of neoplastic changes". Such an effect has been noted for rat skin tumours following irradiation with alpha particles and with electrons (17), as well as with fast neutrons and x rays (91); mouse skin tumours after exposure to low-energy beta particles (80); induction of œsophageal cancer in mice following implantation of ⁶⁰Co wires (212); rat mammary neoplasia following wholebody x-irradiation (172); radiation-induced thymic lymphosarcoma in mice (55, 188); radiation-induced myelogenous leukæmia in mice (192, 234); myeloand lympho-proliferative diseases of swine following feeding with ⁹⁰Sr (77); ⁹⁰Sr-induced bone tumours in mice (141); osteosarcomas induced by alpha-particle radiation in dogs (40) and mice (79); ²²⁴Ra-induced ossifying fibromas in mice (59); squamous-cell carcinomas of lung in dogs following inhalation of ²³⁹PuO₂ (150), and skin sarcomas and basal-cell carcinomas in rats following implantation of radioisotope-impregnated Mylar disks (15). When death with a tumour of moderate to long course is the endpoint, decreasing latency with increasing dose is not always seen (49). With this end-point, considerable inaccuracy in determination of latency can be expected since the neoplasm originated (and could be observed in radiographs) long before it was observed macroscopically. In all of the examples cited above, except the last, the complications associated with mortality from neoplasms having a long course were not a factor in assessing the latency since determination of early neoplastic growth was made without death of the animal or by serial killing. Where mortality occurred, the course of the neoplasm was short and it appeared early in the life span of the animal.

34. The general character of the dose-response curve consists of an increase in incidence of neoplasms with increasing dose of radiation to a maximum followed by a decline in incidence. The doses at which (a) the rise in incidence becomes detectable, (b) the maximum incidence is reached, and (c) the decline in incidence begins, differ for different neoplasms, species, types of radiation, etc. (figure II). With whole-



Figure II. Dose-response curves for different types of tumours following exposure to external radiation: (a) myeloid leukæmia induced in mice by x rays (199); (b) mammary tumours at 12 months in rats by gamma rays (172); (c) thymic lymphoma in mice by x rays (96); (d) kidney tumours in rats by x rays (118); (e) skin tumours in rats by alpha particles (percentage of incidence \times 10) (17); (f) skin tumours in rats by electrons (percentage of incidence \times 10) (17)

body irradiation, the limiting factor is often death due to hæmatopoietic failure, and the decline in incidence seen with higher doses can be explained in part by decreased numbers of animals at risk (199). Nonetheless, the fall in incidence of myelogenous leukæmia at higher whole-body doses (192, 234) can in part be explained on the basis of cell killing (62). Certainly there is a decline in incidence of neoplasms with exposure of local areas to high doses of radiation. Such a decline has been seen in the induction of skin (17, 80) and breast tumours (173) by partial-body exposure to radiation from an external source, in the induction of kidney tumours following high doses of radiation to the exteriorized kidney (118) and in the induction of bone tumours by internally-deposited radio-nuclides which give rise to high doses of radiation, principally to bone (141). These data can best be explained by cell killing rather than by reduced numbers of animals at risk since little or no mortality of the irradiated animals occurred or the animals were part of a serial-killing study. The doses at which the effect of cell killing begins to reduce the incidence of such tumours are an order of magnitude greater than for myelogenous leukæmia.

35. The dose-response relationship for low doses of external radiation at high dose rates has been described as linear for some neoplasms and curvilinear for others. Data from cell killing and chromosomal-mutationinduction experiments (38) indicate that more than a single event is required to produce the end-points measured. At high dose rates there are often indications that the dose-response curves are linear for high-LET radiation but exhibit positive curvature for low-LET radiation. This is in agreement with the Kellerer-Rossi arguments (see paragraph 9) i.e. with the assumption that two critical events are initiated by a single high-LET particle but predominantly only by two low-LET particles. However, an analysis by Rossi and Kellerer (161) of the dose-incidence curve for mammary neoplasms in the Sprague-Dawley rat indicates that there is lack of linearity at low doses of high-LET radiation. These data suggest also that each tumour arises because of unspecified radiation effects on more than one cell and that extrapolations to low doses are unwarranted. The complications of a multistep process. however, preclude drawing firm conclusions and these arguments must be tested by examination of more extensive data on radiation carcinogenesis before the validity of the theory can be asserted. It is apparent, however, that repair does not play a significant role in determining the shape of the dose-response curves for single exposures to high-dose-rate radiation, although it is important in the case of low-dose-rate radiation (see paragraph 47).

36. Few experiments have been large enough to provide statistical proof concerning the exact form of the dose-response curves for radiation-induced neoplasms. An apparently linear relationship has been described for the acceleration of mammary neoplasms in Sprague-Dawley rats from x-ray exposures of 25-400 roentgens (172) and preliminary data from a large experiment suggest that the frequency of thymic lymphoma induced in RFM mice by gamma-ray exposures between 10 and 300 roentgens may rise linearly with exposure (190). On the other hand, the x-ray induction of kidney tumours in rats is almost certainly non-linear in the low-dose range (118), and the radiation-induction of skin tumours in rats (17) and mice (80) is probably curvilinear, the response varying with the second or fourth power of the dose. The doseresponse curve for myelogenous leukæmia in mice has been described as curvilinear, the response varying with the square of the dose (192). In contrast to the linear dose-response curve seen for thymic lymphosarcoma in RFM mice, the curve for C57BL mice strongly suggests a curvilinear response for the same disease (96). Although the C57BL strain is normally considered to be highly susceptible to induction of thymic lymphosarcoma, it is in reality more resistant to induction of this disease by single, brief x-irradiation than is the RFM strain. These data from experiments with low-LET radiation suggest that the more resistant the tissue to tumour induction. the more likely that

the dose response will be curvilinear or sigmoid, and the more sensitive the tissue to radiation, the more likely that linear dose-response curves for tumour induction will be observed. Likewise, linear dose-response curves are seen where the spontaneous incidence of neoplasms is moderate to high, further suggesting that linearity of the dose-response curve is related to sensitivity of tumour induction.

37. As the character of the radiation changes, so does the dose-response curve. X or gamma rays are much less effective at low doses and low dose rates than neutrons. Life-shortening data (197), which can be related principally to the induction of neoplasms (210) demonstrate such differences. For life-shortening due to neutron-irradiation of female RF mice (197), the dose-response curve below 150 rads appears to be linear for both high and low dose rates. The character of the dose-response curve for gamma rays is not as clear, the response to the high dose rate appearing to be linear (as is the case for the thymic lymphosarcoma in this strain), whereas that to the low dose rate appears to be non-linear with marked reduction in effect. For acceleration of mammary tumours in rats, the dose-response curve is non-linear with doses of neutrons up to 50 rads and shows a saturation effect from 50 to 250 rads (207). Considerably more data will be required before the shape of the doseresponse curve for neutron-irradiation below the point of saturation can be clearly determined. Change in dose rate also alters the shape of the dose-response curve, but the exact nature of the curve at low dose rates cannot be determined from the limited data available. For both thymic lymphosarcoma and myelogenous leukæmia in RF mice (198) a reduced dose rate of gamma rays results in a dose-response curve similar to that for a high dose rate but with lower peak incidence.

38. The shapes of the dose-response curves for internal emitters, while of importance for predicting effects of such type of exposure at low doses and dose rates, are difficult to interpret because as the activity decreases so does the dose rate. It is clear that for induction of bone tumours by long-range beta emitters, particularly ⁹⁰Sr, the dose response cannot be linear (125). This effect is attributed to recovery from damage produced by the low-LET radiation when dose rates are sufficiently low. The induction of bone sarcomas by high-LET radiation (i.e. alpha emitters) appears to increase linearly with dose in some cases. but to follow threshold or sigmoid relationships in others. Thus, at low doses, non-linearity was demonstrated for the combined studies of 226Ra, 228Ra and ²²⁸Th in dogs (122, 124), and for ²²⁶Ra plus ²²⁸Ra in humans (162). On the other hand, ²²⁶Ra-induced bone sarcomas in CF-1 mice appear to have a linear doseresponse curve down to very low doses (49). A similar response was detected with external partial-body x-irradiation (49). The presence of a linear response in this strain of mice may be related to the high (2 per cent) spontaneous incidence of the disease (49). It has also been shown that the RF (30) and the CBA strains (49, 141) are significantly less susceptible to ⁹⁰Sr-induced bone sarcomas than the CF-1 strain of mouse. As was the case for external irradiation, the induction of tumours in resistant tissue by internally-deposited radio-nuclides appears to be non-linear. The induction of osteosarcomas in most animals (excluding the sensitive CF-1 mouse strain) is a good example of

such non-linear dose-response curves, as is lung-tumour induction by inhaled radio-nuclides (20, 104).

39. There have been many attempts to demonstrate the presence of an absolute threshold for radiation effects. It appears that there is a threshold for very resistant tissues since it requires doses of more than 800 rads in a single brief exposure of the exteriorized kidney to produce kidney tumours in rats (118) and an exposure of more than 35.000 roentgens with local continuous irradiation at high dose rate to produce esophageal tumours in mice (56). While it has not been disproved that there is an extremely low but slowly increasing response below these effective doses, it seems more likely that induction of these neoplasms occurs only after sufficient tissue destruction and regeneration have occurred, suggesting the existence of a threshold. For more susceptible tissues, however, the threshold, if it exists, is at sufficiently low doses to require massive, expensive experiments to determine its presence. Such efforts should have low priority.

40. On the other hand, the concept of a "practical threshold" has been introduced by Evans (46). This concept is based on the fact that, as dosage decreases, the latency or tumour appearance time increases in some monotonic fashion such that there will be some value of the dose below which the tumour appearance time exceeds the life span. This concept is supported by the suggestion that most, if not all, neoplasms show a decreasing latency with increasing dose (see paragraph 33) and that animals irradiated as adults often die of other diseases before developing long-latency neoplasms because the latency exceeds the remaining life span (see paragraph 51). However, as discussed in paragraph 33, the relationship of dose to latency varies with the end-point for determination of effect. In addition, an accurate determination of the dose at which latency equals the remaining life span requires extrapolation into low-dose ranges where no data exist, which raises much the same problem encountered with the absolute threshold. Further, different values for the practical threshold result when the data are plotted on a semi-log as compared to a log-log plot. It has also been suggested (22) that an extrapolated leastsquare fit to the MIT human radium data provides a better estimate (and a considerably lower "practical threshold" dose) than the method selected by Evans. Thus, while a "practical threshold" based on latency has some validity, it also appears to have many of the same indeterminants that plague the absolute threshold.

VII. Relative biological effectiveness (RBE)

41. It has been known for many years that low-LET radiation is less effective than high-LET radiation in producing a variety of biological effects including carcinogenesis. Relative biological effectiveness (RBE) was first used by Failla and Henshaw (48) to compare the biological effectiveness of different radiations. Subsequently, RBEs were also used in radiation protection as weighting factors in adding doses of radiations with different qualities (137). It was recognized that the usage of RBE in radiation protection was incorrect (82) and it was recommended that RBE be used exclusively for its original purpose in radiobiology and that the term quality factor be used in the field of radiation protection (83). Thus RBE is now defined as the inverse ratio of the absorbed dose from one radiation type to that of a reference radiation required

to produce the same degree of a stipulated biologic effect (138). It has been noted recently that in some instances the RBE increases as the dose decreases because variations in RBE are dependent on the shapes of the dose-response curves. Thus it is necessary to define the curves for both radiations before the RBE can be estimated (figure III). The relationship of RBEs to dose-response curves and their implications for theories of energy interactions at the molecular level have been outlined (98, 160, 179) and are discussed above (paragraph 9).

42. There is no single value of RBE which can be used to predict the relative effects of radiations of different quality in man. A variety of RBEs for different neoplasms in animals, varying from less than 1 to as high as 80, have been reported. It seems certain that much of this variation is due to the use of inappropriate data (e.g., uncorrected incidences) or differences in level of dose or dose rate studied. There are only a few cases where high-LET and low-LET radiations have been compared over a wide range of doses.

43. One of the most extensively studied radiationinduced neoplasms is thymic lymphoma in female RF mice (198). It has been demonstrated that at high doses and high dose rates the RBEs of fast neutrons (196, 198), 14-MeV neutrons (36) and 60-MeV protons (36) are approximately equal to one. This appears to be true over a dose range of approximately 150 to 400 rads of x rays. Between 150 and 25 rads of x rays the RBE for neutrons increases to between 7 and 10 (37). No data exist for RBE below 25 rads of x rays and the shapes of the dose-response curves are unknown at these doses. If both curves become linear, the RBE will remain between 7 and 10. If, as anticipated from theoretical considerations, the neutron curve is linear and the x- or gamma-ray curve is curvilinear at these doses, then the RBE will increase further. The influence of dose rate on RBE has also been studied extensively with this neoplasm and it is clear that neutrons are more effective at lower dose rates than x or gamma rays over a wide dose range. Between gamma-ray doses of 700 and 25 rads, the RBE for fast neutrons increases from between two and four to more than seven, depending on dose rate (196, 198). Since the dose-response curve for neutrons appears to be linear and that for gamma rays curvilinear, higher RBEs might be expected at lower doses.

44. Mammary tumours in Sprague-Dawley rats have also been studied extensively. These data are more difficult to interpret since most of the x- and gamma-ray data come from one laboratory (172) and the data for fission neutrons from another (206). Attempts to determine RBE values from these experiments, which use different techniques and different end-points. have led to values as high as 80 (207). These high values were obtained from the ratio of gamma to neutron doses (400 rad/5 rad) which produce roughly 90 per cent incidence of mammary tumours in Sprague-Dawley rats maintained to death. The accuracy of such determinations is open to question since final incidences uncorrected for competing risks were used and since the final incidence in unirradiated control rats is high (about 50 per cent). Since irradiation results in a dose-dependent acceleration of mammary neoplasia in this strain of rats. the percentage of rats with mammary neoplasms 10 to 12 months after exposure represents the dose-effect relationships more accurately than the survival data. In either case



Figure 111. Influence of character of dose-response curves on RBE: (a) first order (linear) polynomial curves with the same intercept but with different slopes; (b) standard radiation, second order (quadratic) polynomial; test radiation first order polynomial; (c) second order polynomial curves defined by only two terms, the intercept (which in this case is zero) and the second order term, i.e., $y = cx^2$, but with different second order term constants; (d) standard radiation, second order polynomial defined by only the intercept and the second order term; test radiation, second order polynomial defined by the intercept, first and second order terms, i.e., $y = bx + cx^2$

the RBE approaches a value of one between 350 and 400 rads of x rays and increases with decreasing dose (161, 207).

45. Considerable information is also available on the induction of rat skin tumours by cyclotron-accelerated alpha particles and mono-energetic electrons. At lower doses the dose-response curve appears to be curvilinear for both types of radiation, although the alpha particles are more effective and have a more rapid rise in response than the electrons (figure IV). Over the range of doses studied, the RBE of the alpha particles compared to electrons is approximately three and can be considered to increase slowly as the incidence decreases—from 2.3 at 2.0 per cent incidence to 4.3 at 0.2 per cent incidence. Thus within the range of doses for which data for different neoplasms are available, the RBE for high-LET radiation appears to move from one at high doses and high dose rates toward a maximum of 10 at doses between 25 and 100 rads. Estimates at lower doses are not possible since data for calculation of RBE or estimation of RBE by shapes of the dose-response curves are lacking.

46. The relative effectiveness of internal emitters for induction of neoplasia depends not only on the RBE of the particle emitted, but even more strongly on differences in localization, metabolism, transport and size of animal, all of which influence the resultant dose and dose rate to target tissues. For this reason it is not possible to derive quantitative values of RBE for internal emitters for the purpose of extrapolating to man. It can be said, however, that alpha emitters are more effective in producing osteosarcomas (40, 58) and lung tumours (165) than the lower-LET radiations, and the localization patterns of radio-isotopes in bone and the lung play an important role in determining their effectiveness (121, 159, 165).



Figure IV. Cumulative percentage incidence of skin tumours at 76 weeks versus surface dose of alpha (•---•) and electron (o---o) irradiation (17)

VIII. Effect of dose rate

47. It has been known for many years that the dose of ionizing radiation required to produce a given biological effect varies with the dose rate but there are few data on late somatic effects of radiation at low dose rates. Much of the data available relate to life-shortening, which has been reviewed recently by Grahn and Sacher (61). The much smaller body of data on doserate effects in radiation carcinogenesis has been reviewed by Upton (185) and the greater dependence on dose rate of low-LET radiation compared with high-LET radiation has been discussed (189). These doserate effects can be explained in part by the same mechanism used to explain changes in RBE with dose. If induction of neoplasms by radiation requires that two events occur within a small volume within a sufficiently small amount of time to preclude repair, then low-LET radiations delivered at low dose rates would be expected to result in a low probability of two events occurring simultaneously, and sufficient time might elapse between the two events for repair to take place. With high-LET radiations, the intense ionization patterns yield such a high probability of two events occurring in a small volume at the same time, that even low dose rates would be expected to decrease the effectiveness of high-LET radiations relatively little compared with low-LET radiations.

48. A reduced efficiency of x and gamma rays for production of mouse leukæmia at low dose rates has been reported (164). Dose rates as high as 0.35 rad min⁻¹ produce a lower incidence of leukæmia than do dose rates normally employed in "high"-dose-rate exposures (5-100 rad min⁻¹) (129). Thymic lymphosarcoma is more sensitive to this dose-rate effect than is myelogenous leukæmia (196, 217) and induction of both diseases by neutron-irradiation at low doses shows less dependence on dose rate than does induction by x or gamma rays (186, 188, 192, 196, 198). The effect of protraction of dose on the induction or acceleration of other tumours by radiation is less clear, principally because uncorrected incidences have so far been used as end-points. Thus the report that lower dose rates cause an increase in hepatoma incidence (148) can best be explained by increased survival time in the lower-dose-rate group. A significant reduction in ovarian tumour incidence was seen in RF mice irradiated with 60Co gamma rays at low dose rates (184). Although no mortality data accompany the incidence data, it was demonstrated that survival at the lower dose rate was greater than at the higher dose rate (197); thus the reduced incidence cannot be explained on the basis of shortened life span. Since the induction of ovarian neoplasms by radiation has a complex pathogenesis involving the primary event of oöcyte destruction and secondary hormonal stimulation leading to tumour development (see paragraph 53), it is not possible to determine which part of the complex chain of events is affected by the decreased dose rate when tumour incidence is the end-point. No difference in incidence of mammary adenofibroma was noted in Sprague-Dawley rats after gamma-irradiation at exposure rates of 10 R min⁻¹ and 0.03 R min⁻¹ but the incidence of adenocarcinoma was lower in rats exposed at 0.03 R min⁻¹ (170).

49. Numerous studies on fractionation of radiation dose have been performed to determine the amount of reparable injury sustained by the cell, and its translation into radiation-induced disease. Other than the peculiar response associated with induction of murine leukæmia, which is increased by fractionation of radiation dose depending on the schedule of administration (89, 95, 218), most neoplasms occur with lower incidence when doses are substantially fractionated. Such an effect has been reported for skin tumours (81, 157, 235), for ovarian tumours (222), and for the induction of lung tumours promoted by urethan (23, 227). On the other hand, it has been reported that fractionation does not alter the final incidence of mammary neoplasms in rats (230) even when a dose of 500 rads of gamma rays is given in 32 exposures over a period of eight weeks (171). However, since the final incidence of mammary tumours is high in controls, the best measurement of effect is the acceleration caused by the radiation (see paragraph 32). An examination of the data (171) (figure V) shows that at 400 days



Figure V. Cumulative incidence of mammary gland neoplasia in rats, expressed as a percentage of surviving animals at a given time (rats at risk) having one or more tumours of any histologic type. "At 40" and "at 160" indicate age of rats at time of exposure; "125 R \times 4" means that 4 fractions of 125 R were given twice weekly beginning on the fortieth day of age (171)

the cumulative percentage of rats with mammary neoplasms is inversely proportional to the amount of fractionation, with the 32-exposure group showing about 40 per cent reduction. Thus it appears that radiation damage which leads ultimately to neoplasia shows evidence of repair, as do most biological effects of low-LET radiation.

50. The determination of dose-rate effects with internal emitters is a more difficult problem but it is clear that reduction in dose rate reduces the efficiency of tumour induction. Such an effect is seen for induction of bone sarcomas in beagle dogs injected with ⁵⁰Sr (122). There is a "low-risk" region where bone tumours are not seen despite an accumulation of total

dose in excess of that required for induction of these tumours at higher dose rates. A similar dose-rate effect is seen (a) in mice when injected doses of ⁹⁰Sr are fractionated, giving a reduced maximum dose rate and a decreased number of osteosarcomas (49); (b) in mice exposed to different but constant dose rates by continuous ingestion of ⁸⁹Sr (214), where a reduced dose rate results in reduced incidences of bone sarcoma and hæmatopoietic disease; and (c) in lactating mice where the dose rate of 90Sr and the bone tumour incidence are reduced when compared to their nonlactating counterparts (146). In studies on lung-tumour induction by surgically-implanted intrabronchial pellets of ¹⁰⁶Ru (104), no difference in lung-tumour incidence was noted between animals exposed at 2.250 rad d^{-1} and those at 422 rad d^{-1} . This is, however, a relatively small dose rate reduction and it would be useful to repeat the experiment with a wider range of dose rates.

IX. Dependence of sensitivity on age

51. The relation of age to the life-shortening effects of radiation (much of which can be ascribed to induction of neoplasms) has been reviewed by Upton (191). In mice, age susceptibility to life-shortening following a single brief exposure to radiation increases to a maximum in juvenile animals, declines until middle age, and increases again in old age (107, 131) (figure VI). The reduced effectiveness of radiation in adult as



Figure VI. Life-shortening per 100 R exposure as a function of age at irradiation in SAS/4 mice which survived at least 30 days after whole-body exposure to radiation in the LD_0 to LD_{100} range (107)

compared to juvenile animals may be due largely to the failure of adult irradiated animals to survive the long induction period required for expression of the late somatic effects responsible for life-shortening. On the other hand, there is evidence that the susceptibility itself varies with the age at irradiation.

52. The induction of neoplasms is likewise affected by the age at irradiation. Thymic lymphosarcoma, myelogenous leukæmia, and ovarian tumours are particularly sensitive to age effects in mice. In RF mice the sensitivity to induction of thymic lymphosarcoma is low just after birth, increases to a maximum at six weeks of age and declines thereafter, demonstrating low sensitivity after thymic atrophy is far advanced. Myelogenous leukæmia in RF mice also demonstrates a low sensitivity to induction at birth with a slower increase to a later maximum at 10 weeks of age and a slower decline thereafter (195) (figures VII and VIII). Thymic lymphosarcoma in other strains also has



Figure VII. Incidence of thymic lymphoma in relation to sex and age at irradiation (x rays, 300 R) (195)



Figure VIII. Incidence of myeloid leukæmia in relation to sex and age at irradiation (x rays, 300 R) (195)

a maximum early in life with subsequent decline (94, 107). Since the latent period and course of murine leukæmias are relatively short, the decline with age cannot be due to insufficient residual life span for expression. X-ray exposures of 50-400 roentgens to RF mice *in utero* at fœtal stages of development when blood formation is localized predominantly in the yolk sac (9½ days after conception), liver (12½ to 14½ days after conception) and marrow and spleen (17½ days after conception) failed to induce leukæmia (185, 191), although these doses are effective in inducing both thymic lymphoma and myelogenous leukæmia in mice of this strain irradiated after birth (198).

53. The incidence of ovarian tumours is dependent on the age at irradiation. Total-body irradiation of young adult mice produces degenerative changes in the ovary with loss of ova of all stages. This radiation

damage enhances the production of gonad-stimulating hormones of the pituitary. While the relative role of this endocrine imbalance as opposed to the direct effect of radiation on cells of the ovary is not clear, the former must be important since intact ovarian endocrine function inhibits the development of tumours in irradiated ovaries (see reference 51). A gamma exposure of 200 roentgens which produces complete sterility in mice exposed at the age of 2 or 12 weeks failed to destroy all ova in ovaries of mouse foctuses irradiated on the fourteenth or fifteenth days after conception (223). Likewise, doses of radiation which induce a high incidence of ovarian tumours in young adult mice fail to induce such tumours when mice and rats are exposed before birth (155, 195). Immediately after birth, the sensitivity to induction is high (195), reaching a maximum when animals are exposed at 10-20 weeks of age (107, 155) and declining thereafter (32, 107, 155, 158). It is not possible to determine whether the decline in sensitivity with age of irradiation is associated with insufficient life span for expression or with reduced sensitivity of the tissue.

54. The importance of age at time of irradiation has also been demonstrated for the induction of other neoplasms. Kidney adenomas are more easily induced in neonatal than in three-month-old mice (27). Male Sprague-Dawley rats exposed to fast-neutron doses of 215-230 rads show an age-related susceptibility to induction of certain neoplasms (90). Rats irradiated at one month of age were more susceptible to osteochondromas than their three-month-old counterparts. While skin tumours were induced in both groups, those irradiated at one month had a predominance of fibromas while those irradiated at three months had a predominance of basal cell carcinomas. Rats irradiated at three months were more susceptible to cortical carcinomas of the kidney than their one-month-old counterparts.

55. Age-related susceptibility to radiation-induction of tumours by internal emitters has also been reported, and is related to differences in uptake or metabolism of the radio-nuclides. Bone-tumour incidence in young mice (203) and rats (180) is higher than in older animals after treatment with 90Sr; this can be explained on the basis of higher uptake and higher initial dose rate in the younger animals. Similarly, bone-tumour incidence in young rats after treatment with 1 μ Ci g⁻¹ of ¹⁴⁴Ce was higher than in old rats (114). These results were caused by a lower dose resulting from dilution effects in the rapidly growing rats. Adult rats developed bone tumours at lower injection doses. When dose corrections are made, the differences tend to disappear indicating that the bone cells of young animals are not much more susceptible to induction of neoplasms than those of older animals. Similar results have been noted in man when ²²⁴Ra was injected into juveniles and adults; the bone-sarcoma incidence in juveniles was no greater than four times that in adults (178).

56. Fœtal exposure to ⁹⁰Sr ingested by the mother may be an important factor in the subsequent development of hæmatopoietic neoplasms in miniature swine (149) and ³²P administered to pregnant female mice resulted in a significant incidence of leukæmia in female offspring (74). This last result is in contrast to the results obtained with external irradiation (paragraph 52).

X. Differences in sensitivity between strains and between species

57. The role of genetic constitution in long-term survival and induction of neoplasms has been reviewed by the Committee (182) and has since been reviewed by Upton (187). Most of the data on experimental radiation carcinogenesis come from studies with rodents where considerable variation is noted in unirradiated animals, even among different inbred strains of the same species. The spectrum of tumours induced by whole-body irradiation and the amount of life-shortening attributable to these tumours vary considerably with genetic constitution. For example, while the induction of neoplasms by radiation in rodents is well established, none is evident in female burros receiving gamma exposures of 300-550 roentgens despite the cccurrence of life-shortening (14). As stated earlier (paragraph 27), almost any tissue will produce a neoplasm if exposed to sufficient radiation. It has also been demonstrated that the different sensitivities attributable to genetic constitution can be overcome if sufficient radiation is administered (212, 213).

58. Different inbred strains of mice differ in their sensitivity to radiation-induction of thymic lymphosarcoma and myelogenous leukamia (188), but when sufficient radiation is applied in a proper pattern (i.e., fractionated radiation timed to maximize the number of blast cells), some of the differences tend to disappear (153). Species differences exist even among rodents: some strains of rats (130) and guinea-pigs (163, 219) are susceptible to radiation-induced leukæmia, but the Chinese hamster is strikingly resistant (130). Since the Committee last reviewed the subject, additional examples of strain and species differences in sensitivity to induction of various neoplasms have been described. Rats are more susceptible than hamsters to induction of adenocarcinomas of the lung by local external x-irradiation (65); rats are more susceptible than mice to induction of kidney tumours following whole-body x-ray exposures of 500 roentgens (5) but may be less susceptible to large local doses (118); beagle dogs do not show the marked sensitivity of mice for radiationinduction of ovarian neoplasms (4). Different species and strains of animals respond differently to induction of corneal tumours by ultraviolet radiation, with rats, mice, and hamsters being sensitive and guinea-pigs relatively resistant (50). In addition, albino strains of rats are less sensitive than pigmented strains.

59. Considerably less species variation is seen in the spectrum of neoplasms induced by internallydeposited radio-nuclides. Thus, in most species, boneseeking radio-nuclides cause bone tumours, leukæmias, and squamous-cell carcinomas from tissues in close proximity to the bone. Neoplasms may be induced in other organs when radio-nuclides are deposited there either through direct introduction (e.g., inhalation) or by translocation through physiological mechanisms (e.g., liver with plutonium, pigment epithelium of the eye with radium). This qualitative similarity may be related to the high doses required for induction of many of the neoplasms induced. As was noted in paragraph 57, different sensitivities attributable to genetic constitution can be overcome if sufficient radiation is administered. The qualitative similarity in induction of bone sarcomas by bone-seeking radio-nuclides (122, 125) has been analysed for quantitative similarities among species (133). Although one method of dose calculation (i.e., number of beta particles divided by body mass) suggests that the radio-sensitivity to tumour induction of the entire endosteum is independent of species, the average skeletal dose required to produce 50 per cent bone sarcomas does vary with the species. In addition, extreme variability in sensitivity among inbred mouse strains suggests that quantitative similarities among species may not exist (30, 49).

XI. Summary and conclusions

60. Comparisons of experimental animal data with human data have been frequent and the Committee is reviewing the most recent data on radiation carcinogenesis in man in annex H of this report. The data reviewed here suggest that the animal systems studied thus far are quantitatively inadequate for determining risk estimates in man. In addition, many of the most commonly studied animal tumours such as thymic lymphoma and ovarian neoplasms of the mouse and mammary neoplasms of the rat appear to have an induction sensitivity far in excess of that seen in man (annex H).

61. On the other hand, there appear to be several qualitative generalizations which may help to interpret the few human data now available:

(a) Virtually any mammalian tissue with the possible exception of adult neuronal tissue will give rise to neoplasms if exposed to sufficient radiation;

(b) The data from gamma- or x-irradiated animals suggest that for low-LET radiation, while both linear and curvilinear dose-response curves are seen, linear curves in the dose range of less than 100 rads occur principally when the target tissue is highly susceptible to induction of neoplasms by radiation. In man, target tissues which show such high sensitivity to tumour induction by radiation have not been identified except possibly in the foctus (see annex H). If, as the data suggest, most human tumours induced by radiation arise from relatively resistant tissues, then it could be predicted in the light of experimental animal data that the dose-response curves for such neoplasms will be nonlinear in the low-dose range;

(c) It is clear, both from theoretical considerations (see figure III) and from animal data, that the RBE for high-LET radiation can vary with dose. A comparison of the dose-response curves for neoplasms induced by high- and low-LET radiation will indicate increasing RBEs with decreasing doses. Estimates of the RBE may be particularly difficult to determine in man where the data at low doses are few, and conclusions about the dose dependence of RBE cannot be drawn until the dose-response curves are defined;

(d) Another important consideration is the reduced effect of protracted irradiation as compared to an equal dose administered in a short period of time. While considerably more data are required, the animal data available indicate that both protracted continuous irradiation and fractionated irradiation produce less carcinogenic effect than a single administration of the same total dose, suggesting that such an effect might be expected to occur in man as well;

(e) While some exceptions are noted, resistance to radiation-induced tumours is higher in adult than in juvenile rodents and, although some strains of rats and mice are highly susceptible to radiation-induction of leukæmias, fectal irradiation has failed to induce a significant amount of leukæmias in those strains. The significance of this observation to fœtal irradiation of man must await further studies (see annex H);

(f) A difference among species and among strains of the same species in resistance to radiation-induction of neoplasms has been noted, suggesting the existence of considerable genetic control. Such genetic control of tumour induction by radiation makes clear the need for caution in the extrapolation from experimental animals to man. On the other hand, the development of valid qualitative generalizations which appear to apply to mammals of many different species gives hope that quantitative inferences may ultimately be possible.

XII. Areas of major emphasis for future studies

62. While some qualitative generalizations have been derived from animal data which may be useful in understanding the risk of neoplasia following irradiation in man, considerably more data from experiments with a variety of animal species will be required before they can be useful for supplementing quantitative estimates of risks of neoplasms in man. It is particularly important that attention be paid to the determination of the populations of cells that are at risk of neoplastic transformation and the determination of the physical dose to such cells. Where such determinations can be made, it is then essential that experiments be designed in such a way that their results may help in better evaluating quantitative risk estimates for humans. Considerable work is in progress in these three areas for the induction of bone tumours by internally-deposited alpha-emitting radio-nuclides, but other tumour systems must also be studied.

63. Further, the Committee recognizes that there are several broad areas in which we require more information. Among these are studies relating to the mechanism of radiation carcinogenesis. Support or rejection of the various initiating and promoting mechanisms or evaluation of their relative importance will require considerably more data from a much broader spectrum of *radiation-induced* tumours. For example:

(a) The role of virus activation as a mechanism in radiation-induction of neoplasms of the hæmopoietic system needs to be extended from the C57BL mouse to other strains of mice and other mammalian species;

(b) Similarly, efforts must be made to determine whether viruses which can produce tumours of nonhæmopoietic tissues are activated by radiation;

(c) Additional attention should also be given to radiation-induced cell destruction and any subsequent changes in cell repopulation which might temporarily increase the population of susceptible cells. Since different tissues have various susceptibilities to radiation induction of neoplasms, they can be examined for such corresponding changes in cellular kinetics:

(d) Likewise, damage and repair of DNA with the production of gene and chromosomal mutations, as well as damage to other biologically important macromolecules, must be related to the production of neoplasia before radiation-induced somatic mutations can be accepted as a cause of the neoplastic effects;

(e) Radiation-induced changes in other cell constituents, particularly cellular and nuclear membranes, should also be examined and their relationship to neoplastic transformation determined; (f) The role of radiation-induced immune disorders in neoplasia should be examined with radiation-induced tumours of different tissues;

(g) Further clarification of the mechanism of radiation-induced neoplasia may result from studies on disturbances of the neuro-endocrine system by radiation;

(h) The effect of radio-protective agents, including both chemical agents and cellular replacement, on radiation-induction of neoplasms may also help to clarify these mechanisms;

(i) Another broad area of particular importance to the ultimate understanding of radiation carcinogenesis in man is the role of genetic constitution as a determinant of the susceptibility to induction of cancer by radiation. Studies on the mechanism of gene action in inbred animals are critical to this understanding;

(j) Further clarification of the relative importance of dose and dose rate for induction of neoplasms by internally deposited radio-nuclides should be sought through studies on the effect of repeated administration of short-lived radio-nuclides, a procedure analogous to fractionated external irradiation.

64. More data are required to confirm and extend some of the conclusions reached in this report. Most of the experimental animal data derive from studies on a few very sensitive rodent tumour systems. It is essen-

tial to study the reduced efficiency resulting from protracted irradiation (dose-rate effect) in other radiationinduced tumour systems, especially less sensitive ones, in a variety of strains and species. In the same sense, it is important to provide data on change in RBE with dose of radiation for a variety of tumour systems, since the applicability of the Rossi-Kellerer theory (see paragraph 9) to the mechanism of radiationinduced damage leading to neoplasia is based on examination of only one such system. The suggestion that shortening of life span by moderate to low doses of radiation (below 300 rads) is primarily due to induction of lethal neoplastic diseases is based on very few data. Expansion of these data is necessary to verify this generalization which can be extremely important for setting risk estimates for human populations. And lastly, the Committee feels that the apparent discrepancy between the rodent data and human data on induction of leukæmia by fætal irradiation must be studied in additional species which have different rates of maturation of the lymphopoietic system during gestation. All of the studies suggested in this paragraph can be carried out now with existing knowledge and techniques. However, it is essential that such studies utilize the best of statistical approaches to experimental design, as well as careful and proper pathological diagnosis. Analysis of the data must include corrections for competing risks, especially where studies involve late-occurring radiation-induced tumours, which now are those of principal interest.

- 1. Albert, R. E., M. E. Phillips, P. Bennett *et al.* The morphology and growth characteristics of radiation-induced epithelial skin tumors in the rat. Cancer Res. 29: 658-668 (1969).
- 2. Alexander, P. Immunotherapy of cancer: experiments with primary tumors and syngeneic tumor grafts. Progr. Exp. Tumor Res. 10: 22-71 (1968).
- 3. Alexander P. and D. I. Connell. Differences between radiation induced life-span shortening in mice and normal aging as revealed by serial killing, p. 277-283 *in* Cellular Basis and Aetiology of Late Somatic Effects of Ionizing Radiations. R. J. C. Harris (ed.), Academic Press, New York, 1963.
- 4. Andersen, A. C. and M. E. Simpson. Effect of early fractionated whole-body x-irradiation on the ovary. California University, Davis. Radiobiology Laboratory. Annual Report UCD-472-116, p. 7-15 (1969).
- 5. Berdjis, C. C. Kidney tumors and irradiation pathogenesis of kidney tumors in irradiated rats. Oncologia 16: 312-324 (1963).
- 6. Berenblum, I. The mechanism of carcinogenesis. A study of the significance of carcinogenic action and related phenomena. Cancer Res. 1: 807-814 (1941).
- Berenblum, I., L. Chen and N. Trainin. A quantitative study of the leukemogenic action of wholebody x-irradiation and urethane. 1. In adult C57BL mice. Israel J. Med. Sci. 4: 1159-1163 (1968).
- Birdwell, T. R. and L. J. Cole. Early alveolar cell mitotic activity and pulmonary tumor incidence in urethan treated x-irradiated mice. Naval Radiological Defense Laboratory report USNRDL-TR-68-51 (1968).
- Blair, H. A. Radiation dose-time relations for induction of bone tumors in the dog and skin tumors in the rat. Radiat. Res. 34: 501-522 (1968).
- Blair, W. J. Inhalation of radionuclides and carcinogenesis, p. 77-101 in Inhalation carcinogenesis. M. G. Hanna Jr., P. Nettesheim and J. R. Gilbert (eds.). U.S. Atomic Energy Commission, Div. Tech. Inform., Oak Ridge, Tenn. (1970).
- Boecher, B. B., T. L. Chifelle, C. H. Hobbs et al. Toxicity of inhaled ⁹⁰Sr Cl₂ in beagle dogs, p. 1-7 in Lovelace Foundation for Medical Education and Research annual report LF-41 (1969).
- 12. Boegler, F. and H. Kriegel. Leukämoide Reaktion nach 90-Strontium-Inkorporation bei Ratten. Blut 17: 345-350 (1968).

- Brecher, G., E. P. Cronkite and J. H. Peers. Neoplasms in rats protected against lethal doses of irradiation by parabiosis or para-animopropriophenone. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 14: 159-175 (1953).
- 14. Brown, D. G., D. F. Johnson and F. H. Cross. Late effects observed in burros surviving external whole-body gamma irradiation. Radiat. Res. 25: 574-585 (1965).
- Brues, A. M., H. Auerbach, G. M. DeRoche et al. Mechanisms of carcinogenesis, p. 28-31 in Argonne National Laboratory annual report ANL-7535 (1968).
- Brues, A. M., H. Auerbach, G. M. DeRoche et al., Mechanisms of carcinogenesis: skin carcinogenesis from beta irradiation, p. 117 in Argonne National Laboratory report ANL-7635 (1969).
- 17. Burns, F. J., R. E. Albert and R. D. Heimbach. RBE for skin tumors and hair follicle damage in the rat following irradiation with alpha particles and electrons. Radiat. Res. 36: 225-241 (1968).
- Bustad, L. K., M. Goldman, L. S. Rosenblatt et al. Evaluation of long-term effects of exposure to internally deposited radionuclides. Vol. 11, p. 125-140 in Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy. Proceedings of the Fourth International Conference, Geneva, 6-16 September 1971. Published by the United Nations and the International Atomic Energy Agency, 1972.
- 19. Casarett, G. W. Experimental radiation carcinogenesis. Prog. Exp. Tumor Res. 7: 49-82 (1965).
- Cember, H. Empirical establishment of cancerassociated dose to the lung from ¹⁴⁴Ce. Health Phys. 10: 1177-1180 (1964).
- Chameaud, J., R. Perraud, J. Lafuma et al. Etude expérimentale chez le rat de l'influence du radon sur le poumon normal et empoussiéré. Arch. Maladies Professionnelles de Médecine du Travail et de Sécurité Sociale (Paris) 29: 29-40 (1968).
- 22. Chiacchierini, R. P., G. L. Jessup, N. S. Nelson et al. A review of radium toxicity studies, p. 4-9 in U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Public Health Service Technical report BRH/DBE 70-5. Bureau of Radiological Health, Rockville, Md., 1970.
- Cole L. J. and W. A. Foley. Modification of urethan-lung tumor incidence by low x-radiation doses, cortisone and transfusion of isogenic lymphocytes, Radiat. Res. 39: 391-399 (1969).
- 24. Cole, L. J. and P. C. Nowell. Carcinogenesis by fast neutrons relative to x-rays in mice, p. 129-141 *in* Biological Effects of Neutron and Proton Irradiations, Vol. 2, IAEA, Vienna, 1964.
- Cole, L. J. and P. C. Nowell. Radiation carcinogenesis: the sequence of events. Science 150: 1782-1786 (1965).

- 26. Cole, L. J. and P. C. Nowell. Immunological factors modifying the induction of neoplasms in irradiated mice, p. 393-419 *in* Immunity and Tolerance in Oncogenesis. L. Severi (ed.), Division of Cancer Research, Perugia, Italy, 1970.
- Cole, L. J., L. W. Wachtel and V. J. Rosen Jr. Radiation-induced ageing lesions in rodent kidney: experimental alteration by uninephrectomy, food restriction and age of irradiation, p. 23-42 *in* Radiation and Ageing. P. J. Lindop, G. A. Sacher (eds.) Taylor and Francis, London, 1966.
- 28. Colwell, H. A. and S. Russ. X-ray and radium injuries, prevention and treatment. Oxford University Press, London (1934).
- 29. Conference on Murine Leukemia. Nat. Cancer Inst. Monograph 22: 1-712 (1966).
- 30. Cosgrove, G. E. and A. C. Upton. Some late effects of radiostrontium in RF male mice. J. Nucl. Med. 3: 293 (1962).
- 31. Cosgrove, G. E., A. C. Upton, C. C. Congdon et al. Late somatic effects of x-radiation in mice treated with AET and isologous bone marrow. Radiat. Res. 21: 550-574 (1964).
- 32. Cosgrove, G. E., A. C. Upton, L. H. Smith *et al.* Radiation glomerulosclerosis and other late effects: influence of radiological factors and AET. Radiat. Res. 25: 725-735 (1965).
- Cosgrove, G. E., H. E. Walburg, Jr. and A. C. Upton. Gastrointestinal lesions in aged conventional and germfree mice exposed to radiation as young adults. Monogr. Nucl. Med. Biol. 1: 302-312 (1968).
- 34. Curtis, H. J. Somatic mutations in radiation carcinogenesis, p. 45-55 in Radiation-Induced Cancer. IAEA, Vienna, 1969.
- 35. Cutler, S. and F. Ederer. Maximum utilization of the life table method in analyzing survival. J. Chron. Dis. 8: 699-712 (1958).
- Darden, E. B. Jr. Current research on factors influencing RBE for mammalian late effects, p. 255-267 in Proc. Symposium on Neutrons in Radiobiology, USAEC, Div. Technical Information, Oak Ridge, Tenn., 1969.
- 37. Darden, E. B. Jr. Unpublished.
- Davies, D. R. and H. J. Evans. The role of genetic damage in radiation-induced cell lethality. Adv. Radiat. Biol. 2: 243-353 (1966).
- 39. Doniach, I. Experimental induction of tumors of the thyroid by radiation. Brit. Med. Bull. 181-183 (1958).
- 40. Dougherty, T. F. and C. W. Mays. Bone cancer induced by internally-deposited emitters in beagles. p. 361-367 *in* Radiation-Induced Cancer, IAEA, Vienna, 1969.
- Dougherty, T. F., B. J. Stover, J. H. Dougherty et al. Studies of the biological effects of Ra²²⁶, Pu²³⁹, Ra²²⁸ (MsTh₁), Th²²⁸ (RdTh) and Sr⁹⁰ in adult beagles. Radiat. Res. 17: 625-681 (1962).
- Duplan, J. F. Quelques données récentes concernant le mécanisme de la radioleucémogénèse, p. 149-156 in Effects of Ionizing Radiations on the Hæmatopoietic Tissue, IAEA, Vienna, 1967.

- 43. Duplan, J. F. et P. Maldague. Influence des radioprotecteurs chimiques sur les radiolésions tardives et la radiocancérogenèse. Revue Médicale de Liège 23: 139-145 (1968).
- 44. Epstein, J. H. and H. L. Roth. Experimental ultra-violet light carcinogenesis: a study of croton oil promoting effects. J. Invest. Dermatol. 50: 387-389 (1968).
- Esposito, S., L. Buscarini, E. L. Chériè Lignière et al. L'azione biologica delle radiazioni sugli acidi nucleici. Hæmatologica 50: 575-610 (1965).
- 46. Evans, R. D., A. T. Keane, R. J. Kolenkow *et al.* Radiogenic tumors in the radium and mesothorium cases studied at M.I.T., p. 157-194, *in* Delayed Effects of Bone-Seeking Radionuclides. C. W. Mays, W. S. S. Jee, R. D. Lloyd *et al.* (eds.), Univ. Utah Press, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1969.
- Faber, M. Radiation carcinogenesis and the significance of some physical factors, p. 149-159 in Radiation-Induced Cancer, IAEA, Vienna, 1969.
- Failla, G. and P. S. Henshaw. The relative biological effectiveness of x-rays and gamma rays. Radiology 17: 1-43 (1931).
- Finkel, M. P. and B. O. Biskis. Experimental induction of osteosarcomas. Prog. Exp. Tumor Res. 10: 72-111 (1968).
- Freeman, R. G. and J. M. Knox. Ultraviolet-induced corneal tumors in different species and strains of animals. J. Invest. Dermatol. 43: 431-436 (1964).
- 51. Furth, J. Conditioned and autonomous neoplasms: A review. Cancer Res. 13: 477-492 (1953).
- 52. Furth, J. Radiation neoplasia and endocrine systems, p. 7-25 *in* Radiation Biology and Cancer, Symposium on Fundamental Cancer Research 12th, Houston, Texas, 1958.
- 53. Furth, J. and E. Lorenz. Carcinogenesis by ionizing radiations, p. 1145-1201 *in* Radiation Biology, Vol. 1. A. Hollaender (ed.) McGraw-Hill, 1954.
- Furth, J. and A. C. Upton. Vertebrate radiobiology: histopathology and carcinogenesis. Ann. Rev. Nucl. Sci. 3: 303-338 (1953).
- 55. Furth, J., A. C. Upton and A. W. Kimball. Late pathological effects of atomic detonation and their pathogenesis. Radiat. Res. Suppl. 1: 243-264 (1959).
- 56. Gates, Oliver and S. Warren. Radiation-induced experimental cancer of the esophagus. Amer. J. Pathol. 53: 667-685 (1968).
- Goldman, M., D. L. Dungworth, M. S. Bulgin et al. Radiation-induced lethality from ⁹⁰Sr and ²²⁶Ra administration to beagles. California University, Davis, Radiobiology Laboratory, annual report UCD-472-116, p. 78-84 (1969).
- Goldman, M., D. L. Dungworth. M. S. Bulgin et al. Radiation-induced neoplasms in beagles after administration of ⁹⁰Sr and ²²⁰Ra, p. 345-360 in Radiation-Induced Cancer, IAEA, Vienna, 1969.

- 59. Gössner, W., B. Hindringer, O. Hug et al. Early and late effects of incorporated ²²⁴Ra in mice. Proceedings of the Fifth International Congress of the French Society for Radioprotection, Contamination by Bone-Seeking Radionuclides and Radioprotection. Grenoble, 1971 (in press).
- 60. Grahn, D., R. J. M. Fry and Ruth A. Lea. Applications, interpretations, and problems in the actuarial analysis of survival data of mice under single dose and daily gamma irradiation. Radiat. Res. 47: 305 (1971).
- 61. Grahn, D. and G. A. Sacher. Fractionation and protraction factors and the late effects of radiation in small mammals, p. 2.1-2.27 *in* Proc. Symposium on Dose Rate in Mammalian Radiation Biology, USAEC, Div. Tech. Information, Oak Ridge, Tenn. 1968.
- Gray, L. H. Radiation biology and cancer, p. 7-25 in Cellular Radiation Biology, Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore, Maryland, 1965.
- 63. Greenblatt. M., R. Montesano, L. Wombolt *et al.* Automatic data processing techniques for carcinogenesis studies. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 44: 1037-1045 (1970).
- 64. Gross, L. and D. G. Feldman. Electron microscopic studies of radiation-induced leukemia in mice: virus release following total-body x-ray irradiation. Cancer Res. 28: 1677-1685 (1968).
- 65. Gross, P., E. A. Pfitzer, J. Watson *et al.* Experimental carcinogenesis. Bronchial intramural adenocarcinomas in rats from x-ray irradiation of the chest. Cancer 23: 1046-1060 (1969).
- 66. Hall-Edwards, J. On chronic X-ray dermatitis. Brit. Med. J. 2: 993-996 (1904).
- 67. Hall-Edwards, J. Treatment of chronic X-ray dermatitis. Brit. Med. J. 2: 826 (1906).
- Harbers, E. Zur Rolle der Nucleinsäuren bei der biologischen Wirkung ionisierender Strahlen und bei der Cancerogenese. Radiologe 6: 75-85 (1966).
- 69. Harris, R. J. C., ed. Cellular Basis and Aetiology of Late Somatic Effects of Ionizing Radiation, Academic Press, N.Y. 1963.
- 70. Hendringer. B., W. Gössner. Microscopic distribution of short-lived alpha-emitting bone seekers studied by quantitative autoradiography. Proceedings of the Fifth International Congress of the French Society for Radioprotection. Contamination by Bone-Seeking Radionuclides and Radioprotection, Grenoble. 1971 (in press).
- Hirose, F. Induction of gastric adenocarcinoma in mice by localized x-irradiation. Gann 60: 253-260 (1969).
- 72. Hoel. D. G. and H. E. Walburg, Jr. J. Nat. Cancer Inst., in press.
- 73. Hollcroft, J., E. Lorenz, E. Miller *et al.* Delayed effects in mice following acute total-body x-irradiation: modification by experimental treatment. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 18: 615-640 (1957).
- Holmberg, E. A. D., C. Dosne Pasqualini and S. L. Rabasa. Biological effect of radiophosphorous ³²P in the mouse. Medicina (Buenos Aires) Suppl. 28 (1): 152-160 (1968): (in Spanish).
- Hoshino, H., H. Tanooka and F. Fukuoka. Summation of carcinogenic effect of 4-Nitroquinoline 1-oxide and beta rays. Gann 59: 43-49 (1968).

- Howard, E. B., W. J. Clarke. Induction of hematopoietic neoplasms in miniature swine by chronic feeding of ⁹⁰Sr. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 44: 21-38 (1970).
- Howard, E. B., W. J. Clarke and P. L. Hackett. Experimental myeloproliferative and lymphoproliferative diseases of swine. Bibl. Hæmatol. 30: 255-262 (1968).
- 78. Howard, E. B., W. J. Clarke, M. T. Karogianes et al. ⁹⁰Sr-induced bone tumors in miniature swine. Radiat. Res. 39: 594-607 (1969).
- 79. Hug, O., W. Gössner, W. A. Müller *et al.* Production of osteosarcomas in mice and rats by incorporation of radium-224, p. 393-409 *in* Radiation-Induced Cancer, IAEA, Vienna, 1969.
- 80. Hulse, E. V. Incidence and pathogenesis of skin tumors in mice irradiated with single external doses of low energy beta particles. Brit. J. Cancer 21: 531-547 (1967).
- Hulse, E. V., R. H. Mole. Skin tumor incidence in CBA mice given fractionated exposures to low-energy beta particles. Brit. J. Cancer 23: 452-463 (1969).
- 82. International Commission on Radiological Units and Measurements. National Bureau of Standards Handbook 78, 1959.
- 83. International Commission on Radiation Units and Measurements, ICRU, Report 11, Radiation Quantities and Units, 1968.
- 84. International Commission on Radiological Protection. A review of the radio-sensitivity of the tissues in bone. *in* Report prepared for Committees 1 and 2 of the ICRP. ICRP Publication 11, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1968.
- 85. International Commission on Radiological Protection. Radiosensitivity and spatial distribution of dose, p. 100-101 *in* Report prepared for Committee 1 of the International Commission on Radiological Protection, ICRP Publication 14, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1969.
- Irino, S., T. Sezaki, K. Ikejiri *et al.* Coleukemogenic action of croton oil in the development of leukemia by x-irradiation. Igaku to Seibutsugaku 67: 218-223 (1963) (in Japanese).
- 87. Ito, T., K. Yokoro, A. Ito *et al.* A comparative study of the leukemogenic effects of strontium-90 and x-rays in mice. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 130: 345-350 (1969).
- Jänisch, W. und M. Kirsch. Tierversuche zur Induktion von intrakraniellen Geschwülsten durch ionisierende Strahlen. Exp. Pathol. 1: 226-233 (1967).
- 89. Jaerplid, B. Radiation-induced asymmetry and lymphoma of thymus in mice. Acta Radiol. Suppl. 279: 1-98 (1968).
- 90. Jones, D. C. Persistent and late effects of wholebody irradiation in the juvenile male rat, p. 439-447 in Radiation Biology of the Fetal and Juvenile Mammal. USAEC. Div. Techn. Information, Oak Ridge, Tenn. 1969.
- 91. Jones, D. C., T. J. Castenera, D. J. Kimeldorf et al. Radiation induction of skin neoplasms in the male rat. J. Invest. Dermatol. 50: 27-35 (1968).

- 92. Kajima, M. Viral status of germfree rodents, present and future, p. 117-124 in Germ-free Biology. Experimental and Clinical Aspects. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, Vol. 3. E. A. Mirand and N. Back (eds.) Plenum Press. N. Y., 1969.
- 93. Kaplan, E. and P. Meier. Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. J. Amer. Stat. Assoc. 53: 457-481 (1958).
- 94. Kaplan. H. S. Influence of age on susceptibility of mice to the development of lymphoid tumors after irradiation. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 9: 55-56 (1948).
- Kaplan, H. S. The role of radiation on experimental leukemogenesis. Nat. Cancer Inst. Monograph 14: 207-220 (1964).
- 96. Kaplan, H. S. and M. B. Brown. A quantitative dose response study of lymphoid-tumor development in irradiated C57 black mice. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 13: 185-208 (1952).
- 97. Kaplan, H. S., M. B. Brown and J. Paull. Influence of bone marrow injections on involution and neoplasia of mouse thymus after systemic irradiation. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 14: 303-316 (1953).
- 98. Kellerer, A. M. and H. H. Rossi. RBE and the primary mechanism of radiation action. Radiat. Res. 14: 15-34 (1971).
- 99. Koch, R. und G. O. Schenck. Möglichkeiten des Eingreifens sensibilisierender und desensibilisierender Zusätze in der Strahlenchemie und -biologie VI. Mitteilung: Der Einfluss der Bestrahlung auf die Tumorbildung nach 3.4-Benzpyren. Strahlentherapie 126: 87-93 (1965).
- 100. Krueger, G. R. F., R. A. Malmjren and C. W. Berard. Malignant lymphomas and plasmacytosis in mice under prolonged immunosuppression and persistent antigenic stimulation. Transplantation 11: 138-144 (1971).
- Lacassagne, A. Les cancers produits par les rayonnements électromagnétiques. Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles, No. 975, Hermann et Cie, Paris, 1945.
- 102. Lacassagne, A. Les cancers produits par les rayonnements corpusculaires; mécanisme présumable de la cancerisation par les rayons. Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles, No. 981, Hermann et Cie, Paris, 1945.
- 103. Lamson, B. G., M. S. Billings, R. A. Meek et al. Late effects of total-body roentgen irradiation. III. Early appearance of neoplasms and life-shortening in female Wistar rats surviving 1000 R hypoxic total-body irradiation. A.M.A. Arch. Pathol. 66: 311-321 (1958).
- 104. Laskin, S., M. Kuschner and R. T. Drew. Studies in pulmonary carcinogenesis, p. 321-351 in Inhalation Carcinogenesis. M. G. Hanna, P. Nettesheim and J. R. Gilbert (eds.), USAEC, Div. Technical Information, Oak Ridge, Tenn., 1970.
- 105. Lindop, Patricia J. and J. Rotblat. Long-term effects of a single whole-body exposure of mice to ionizing radiations. I. Life-shortening. Proc. Royal Soc., B. 154: 332-349 (1961).
- 106. Lindop, Patricia J. and J. Rotblat. Long-term effects of a single whole-body exposure of mice to ionizing radiations. II. Causes of death. Proc. Royal Soc., B. 154: 350-368 (1961).

- 107. Lindop, Patricia J. and J. Rotblat. The age factor in the susceptibility of man and animals to radiation. I. The age factor in radiation sensitivity in mice. Brit. J. Radiol. 35: 23-31 (1962).
- 108. Lindop, Patricia J. and J. Rotblat. Induction of lung tumors by the action of radiation and urethane. Nature 210: 1392-1393 (1966).
- 109. Lindsay, S., I. L. Chaikoff. The effects of irradiation on the thyroid gland with particular reference to the induction of thyroid neoplasms: a review. Cancer Res. 24: 1099-1107 (1964).
- 110. Lipkin, M. and H. Quastler. Cell retention and incidence of carcinoma in several portions of the gastrointestinal tract. Nature 194: 1198-1199 (1962).
- 111. Loutit, J. F. Strontium-90 and leukemia. Sci. Basis Med. Ann. Rev. 340-355 (1967).
- 112. Ludwig, F. C., R. M. Elashoff and O. N. Rambo. Postponement of murine radiogenic leukemia by manipulation of the preleukemic state. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 130: 1285-1288 (1969).
- 113. Ludwig, F. C., R. M. Elashoff and J. S. Wellington. Murine radiation leukemia and the preleukemic state. Lab. Invest. 19: 240-251 (1968).
- 114. Mahlum, D. D., M. R. Sikov. Skeletal changes produced by the administration of plutonium-239 and cerium-144 to weanling rats, p. 567-576 in Radiation Biology of the Fetal and Juvenile Mammal, USAEC, Div. Technical Information, Oak Ridge, Tenn., 1969.
- Maisin, J. R. Influence of radioprotectors on the incidence of radiation-induced cancers, p. 215-231 in Radiation-Induced Cancer, IAEA, Vienna, 1969.
- 116. Maisin, J. R., P. Maldague, A. Dunjic *et al.* Syndromes mortels et effets tardifs des irradiations totales et subtotales chez le rat. J. Belge Radiol. 40: 346-398 (1957).
- 117. Maldague, P. Radiocancérisation expérimentale du rein par les rayons X chez le rat. 2. Les radiolésions rénales et leurs répercussions. Pathol Euro. 2: 1-54 (1967).
- 118. Maldague, P. Comparative study of experimentally induced cancer of the kidney in mice and rats with x-rays. p. 439-458 *in* Radiation-Induced Cancer, IAEA, Vienna, 1969.
- 119. Marie, P., J. Clunet et G. Raulot-Lapointe. Contribution à l'étude du développement des tumeurs malignes sur les ulcères de roentgen. Bull. Assoc. Franç. Etude Cancer 3: 404-426 (1910).
- 120. Marie, P., J. Clunet et G. Raulot-Lapointe. Nouveau cas de tumeur maligne provoquée par une radiodermite expérimentale chez le rat blanc. Bull. Assoc. Franç. Etude Cancer 5: 125-135 (1912).
- 121. Marshall, J. H. The retention of radionuclides in bone, p. 7-27 in Delayed Effects of Bone-Seeking Radionuclides, C. W. Mays. W. S. S. Jee, R. D. Lloyd *et al.* (eds.). Univ. Utah Press, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1969.

- 122. Mays, C. W., T. F. Dougherty, G. N. Taylor et al. Bone cancer induction by radio-nuclides: Incidence vs dose. in Hearings before the Joint Committee on Atomic Energy, 91st Congress, 2nd Session on Environmental Effects of Producing Electric Power, part 2, Vol. II, p. 2193-2209, 1970.
- 123. Mays, C. W., W. S. S. Jee, R. D. Lloyd et al. (eds.). Delayed Effects of Bone-Seeking Radionuclides. Univ. Utah Press, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1969.
- 124. Mays, C. W. and R. D. Lloyd. Bone sarcoma incidence vs alpha particle dose *in* The Radiobiology of Plutonium. W. S. S. Jee and B. J. Stover (eds.). (in press).
- 125. Mays, C. W. and R. D. Lloyd. Bone sarcoma risk from ⁹⁰Sr, p. 352-375 in Biomedical Implications of Radiostrontium Exposure. M. Goldman and L. K. Bustad (eds.). USAEC, Office of Information Services, Oak Ridge, Tenn., 1972.
- 126. McClellan, R. O. and R. K. Jones. ⁹⁰Sr-induced neoplasia. A selective review, p. 293-322 in Delayed Effects of Bone-seeking Radionuclides. C. W. Mays, W. S. S. Jee, R. D. Lloyd *et al.* (eds.). University of Utah Press, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1969.
- 127. Mewissen, D. J. and M. Brucer. Late effects of gamma irradiation on mice protected with cysteamine and cystamine. Nature 179: 201-202 (1957).
- 128. Mole, R. H. On wasted radiation and the interpretation of experiments with chronic irradiation. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 15: 907-914 (1955).
- 129. Mole, R. H. The development of leukemia in irradiated animals. Brit. Med. Bull. 14: 174-177 (1958).
- 130. Mole, R. H. Induction by radiation of leukemias and other malignant diseases of hematopoietic cells in experimental animals. Bull. World Health Org. 26: 613-618 (1962).
- 131. Mole, R. H. Does radiation age or produce nonspecific life-shortening? p. 273-276 in Cellular Basis and Aetiology of Late Somatic Effects of Ionizing Radiation, R. J. C. Harris, ed. Academic Press, London, 1963.
- 132. Mole. R. H. Pathological findings in mice exposed to fission neutrons in the reactor GLEEP, p. 117-128 in Biological Effects of Neutron and Proton Irradiations, Vol. 2, IAEA, Vienna, 1964.
- 133. Mole, R. H. Endosteal sensitivity to tumor induction by radiation in different species: A partial answer to an unsolved question? p. 249-261 in Delayed Effects of Bone-Seeking Radionuclides. C. W. Mays, W. S. S. Jee, R. D. Lloyd et al. (eds.). Univ. Utah Press, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1969.
- 134. Mole, R. H. Late Effects of exposure to ionizing radiation: animal experimentation and human protection. p. 179-199 *in* First European Symposium on Late Effects of Radiation. P. Metalli (ed.). Comitato Nazionale Energia Nucleare. Roma, 1970.

- 135. Moskalev, Yu. I. and V. N. Streltsova. The carcinogenic effects of ionizing radiation. A review of current problems. Atomic Energy Review 2: 149-194 (1964).
- 136. Nagayao, T., A. Ito and S. Yamada. Accelerated induction of hepatoma in rats fed N. N'-2,7— Fluorenylenebisacetamide by x-irradiation to the target area. Gann 61: 81-84 (1970).
- 137. National Committee on Radiation Protection and Measurements. National Bureau of Standards Handbook 59, Permissible Dose from External Sources of Ionizing Radiation, 1954.
- 138. National Council on Radiation Protection and Measurements, NCRP, Report No. 39, Basic Radiation Protection Criteria, 1971.
- 139. Nelson, A., B. Jarplid, A. Nilsson *et al.* Protective effect of cysteamine at fractionated irradiation III. Histopathologic diagnoses at death. Acta Radiol. Suppl. 310: 181-199 (1971).
- 140. Nilsson, A. Pathologic effects of different doses of ⁹⁰Sr in mice. Development of carcinomas in the mucous membranes of the head. Acta Radiol. Ther. Phys. Biol. 7: 28-41 (1968).
- 141. Nilsson, A. Pathologic effects of different doses of radiostrontium in mice. Dose effect relationship in ⁹⁰Sr-induced bone tumors. Acta Radiol. Ther. Phys. Biol. 9: 155-176 (1970).
- 142. Nilsson, A. Pathologic effects of different doses of radiostrontium in mice. Changes in the haematopoietic system. Acta Radiologica 9: 528-543 (1970).
- 143. Nilsson, A. Pathologic effects of different doses of radiostrontium in mice. Development and incidence of leukemia. Acta Radiol. Ther. Phys. Biol. 10: 115-128 (1971).
- 144. Nilsson, A. ⁹⁰Sr-induced malignancies in mice, p. 207-241 in Biomedical Implications of Radiostrontium Exposure. M. Goldman and L. K. Bustad (eds.). USAEC, Office of Information Services, Oak Ridge, Tenn., 1972.
- 145. Nilsson, A. (Unpublished).
- 146. Nilsson, A., A. Nelson, C. Rönnböck *et al.* Influence of gestation and lactation on radiostrontium-induced malignancies in mice. II. Retention of radiostrontium and relation between tumor incidence and excretion rate. Acta Radiol. Ther. Phys. Biol. 3: 129-144 (1967).
- 147. Nilsson, A., L. Révész and K. Eriksson. Antigenicity of radiostrontium induced osteosarcomas. Rad. Res. (in press).
- 148. Nowell, P. C. and L. J. Cole. Hepatomas in mice: incidence increased after gamma irradiation at low dose-rates. Science 148: 96-97 (1965).
- 149. Palmer. R. F., C. R. Watson and J. L. Beamer. Radiation dose to fetuses of miniature swine ingesting ⁹⁰Sr. p. 89-96 *in* Radiation Biology of the Fetal and Juvenile Mammal. USAEC, Div. Technical Information, Oak Ridge, Tenn., 1969.
- 150. Park, J. F., W. J. Blair, E. B. Howard *et al.* Chronic effects of inhaled ²³⁹PuO₂ in beagles, p. 3.3-3.5 *in* Pacific Northwest Laboratory annual report, Vol. 1. Part 1. BNWL-1051 (1968).

- Penn. I. Malignant tumors in organ transplant recipients. Recent Results in Cancer Res. 35: 1-51 (1970).
- 152. Perraud, R., J. Chameaud, R. Masse *et al.* Cancers pulmonaires expérimentaux chez le rat après inhalation de radon associé à des poussières non radioactives. Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci., Paris, 270: 2594-2595 (1970).
- Pollard, M., T. Matsuzawa. Radiation induced leukemia in germfree mice. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 116: 967-971 (1964).
- 154. Prince, J. E., D. K. Hinkle and H. W. Casey. Histologic changes in rat skin after 13 MeV proton irradiation. Aerosp. Med. 40: 504-508 (1969).
- Reincke, U., E. Stutz und G. Wegner. Tumoren nach einmaliger Röntgenbestrahlung weiber Ratten in verschiedenem Lebensalter. Z. Krebsforsch. 66: 165-186 (1964).
- Reiskin, A. B. Cell proliferation and carcinogenesis. Recent Results in Cancer Res. 17: 128-135 (1969).
- 157. Rieger, H. A comparison between the effects of fractionated electron and x-irradiations on induced tumors. Thesis, Universität Giessen, p.1-48 (1963) (in German).
- 158. Rivière, M. R., I. Chouroulinkov, C. Lasne et al. Différences dans l'apparition de tumeurs de l'ovaire selon l'âge et la souche de souris soumises à une irradiation générale par rayons X. Compt. Rend. Soc. Biol. 156: 1605-1607 (1962).
- 159. Rosenthal, M. W. and A. Lindenbaum. Osteosarcomas as related to tissue distribution of monomeric and polymeric plutonium in mice, p 371-386 in Delayed Effects of Bone-Seeking Radionuclides. C. W. Mays. W. S. S. Jee. R. D. Lloyd et al. (eds.). Univ. Utah Press, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1969.
- Rossi, H. H. The effects of small doses of ionizing radiation. Phys. Med. Biol. 15 (2): 255-262 (1970).
- Rossi, H. H. and A. M. Kellerer. Radiation carcinogenesis at low doses. Science 175: 200-202 (1972).
- 162. Rowland, R. E., P. M. Failla, A. T. Keane *et al.* Some dose-response relationships for tumor incidence in radium patients, p. 1-17 *in* Argonne National Laboratory report ANL-7760, Part 2, 1970.
- 163. Rust, J. H., R. J. Robertson, E. F. Staffeldt *et al.* Effects of lifetime gamma ray exposure on the survival and pathology of guinea pigs. p. 217-244 *in* Radiation and Ageing. Patricia J. Lindop and G. A. Sacher (eds.). Taylor and Francis Ltd., London, 1966.
- 164. Sacher, G. A., D. Grahn, R. J. M. Fry et al. Epidemiological and cellular effects of chronic radiation exposure: a search for relationship, p. 13-38 in First European Symposium on Late Effects of Radiation. P. Metalli (ed.). Comitato Nazionale Energia Nucleare, Roma, 1970.

- 165. Sanders, C. L. Jr., R. C. Thompson and W. J. Blair. Lung cancer: dose response studies with radionuclides, p. 285-303 in Inhalation Carcinogenesis. H. G. Hanna Jr., P. Nettesheim and J. R. Gilbert (eds.). USAEC, Div. Technical Information, Oak Ridge, Tenn., 1970.
- Sato, C. Cell population analysis of radiation leukemogenesis in mice. Tohoku J. Exp. Med. 96: 97-109 (1968).
- 167. Schauer, A.. Th. Voellnagel und W. Wildanger. Morphologische und histochemische Untersuchungen bei der Cancerisierung der Darmschleimhaut der Ratte durch 1,2-Dimethylhydrazin (DMH). Verh. Deut. Ges. Pathol. 53: 234-236 (1969).
- Severi, Lucio (ed.). Immunity and Tolerance in Oncogenesis. 2 Vol. Division of Cancer Research, Perugia, Italy, 1970.
- 169. Shellabarger, C. J. Effect of 3-Methylcholanthrene and X irradiation, given singly or combined on rat mammary carcinogenesis. J. Nat. Cancer Inst. 38: 73-77 (1967).
- 170. Shellabarger, C. J. and R. D. Brown. Rat mammary neoplasia following ⁶⁰Co irradiation at 0.03 R or 10 R per minute. Presented at 20th Annual Meeting of Radiation Research Society, Portland, Oregon, May 14-18, 1972.
- 171. Shellabarger, C. J., V. P. Bond, G. E. Aponte et al. Results of fractionation and protraction of total body radiation on rat mammary neoplasia. Cancer Res. 26: 509-513 (1966).
- 172. Shellabarger, C. J., V. P. Bond, E. P. Cronkite et al. Relationship of dose of total-body ⁶⁰Co radiation to incidence of mammary neoplasia in female rats, p. 161-172 in Radiation-Induced Cancer, IAEA, Vienna, 1969.
- 173. Shellabarger. C. J. and R. W. Schmidt. Mammary neoplasia in the rat as related to dose of partial body irradiation. Radiat. Res. 30: 497-506 (1967).
- 174. Shellabarger, C. J. and R. W. Schmidt. Mammary neoplasia in partial-body-irradiated rats treated with AET. Radiat. Res. 30: 507-514 (1967).
- 175. Shibata, H. Experimental study on the development of tumor induced by thorotrast. Nippon Acta Radiol. 26: 1336-1347 (1967) (in Japanese).
- 176. Shubik, P., A. R. Goldfarb, A. C. Ritchie *et al.* Latent carcinogenic action of beta irradiation on mouse epidermis. Nature 171: 934-935 (1953).
- 177. Spiers, F. W. Beta particle dosimetry in trabecular bone, p. 95-108 *in* Delayed Effects of Bone-Seeking Radionuclides. C. W. Mays, W. S. S. Jee, R. D. Lloyd *et al.* (eds.). Univ. Utah Press, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1969.
- 178. Spiess, H. and C. W. Mays. Bone cancers induced by ²²⁴Ra (ThX) in children and adults. Health Phys. 19: 713-729 (1970).
- 179. Storer, J. B. and V. P. Bond. Evaluation of long-term effects of low-level whole-body external radiation exposures. Vol. 11, p. 3-12 *in* Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, Proceedings of the Fourth International Conference, Geneva, 6-16 September 1971. Published by the United Nations and the International Atomic Energy Agency, 1972.

- 180. Sundaram, K. Longterm consequences of ⁹⁰Sr in rats and the problem of carcinogenesis, p. 139-144 in Cellular Basis and Aetiology of Late Somatic Effects of Ionizing Radiation. R. J. C. Harris (ed.). Academic Press, London, 1963.
- 181. Sundelin, P. and A. Nilsson. Cytoplasmic ultraviolet extinction of strontium-90-induced fibroblastic osteosarcomas correlated to histologic appearance and ultrastructure. Acta Radiol. Ther. Phys. Biol. 7: 161-170 (1968).
- 182. United Nations. Report of the United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation. 1962. Official Records of the General Assembly, Seventeenth Session, Supplement No. 16 (A/5216).
- 183. United Nations. Report of the United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation. 1969. Official Records of the General Assembly, Twenty-fourth Session, Supplement No. 13 (A/7613).
- 184. Upton, A. C. The dose-response relation in radiation induced cancer. Cancer Res. 21 (6): 717-729 (1961).
- Upton, A. C. Comparative aspects of carcinogenesis by ionizing radiation. Nat. Cancer Inst. Monograph 14: 221-242 (1964).
- 186. Upton, A. C. Comparative observations on radiation carcinogenesis in man and animals, p. 631-675 in Carcinogenesis: A Broad Critique. Proc. 20th Annual Symp. Fundamental Cancer Research. Williams and Wilkins Co., 1967.
- 187. Upton, A. C. Radiation carcinogenesis, p. 53-82 in Methods in Cancer Research Vol. 4. Harris Busch (ed.). Academic Press, New York, 1968.
- 188. Upton. A. C. The role of radiation in the etiology of leukemia, p. 55-71 *in* Proc. International Conference on Leukemia and Lymphoma. C. J. Zarafonetis (ed.). Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia, 1968.
- Upton, A. C. The influence of dose rate in mammalian radiation biology: quality effects, p. 22.1-22.18 in Proc. Symposium on Dose Rate in Mammalian Radiation Biology, USAEC, Div. Technical Information, Oak Ridge, Tenn., 1968.
- 190. Upton, A. C., R. C. Allen, R. C. Brown *et al.* Quantitative experimental study of low-level radiation carcinogenesis, p. 425-438 *in* Radiation-Induced Cancer, IAEA, Vienna, 1969.
- 191. Upton, A. C., J. W. Conklin and R. A. Popp. Influence of age at irradiation on susceptibility to radiation-induced life-shortening in RF mice, p. 337-344 in Radiation and Ageing. Patricia J. Lindop and G. A. Sacher (eds.). Taylor and Francis Ltd., London, 1966.
- 192. Upton, A. C., V. K. Jenkins and J. W. Conklin. Myeloid leukemia in the mouse. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 114 (1): 189-202 (1964).
- 193. Upton. A. C., V. K. Jenkins, H. E. Walburg, Jr. et al. Observations on viral, chemical and radiation-induced myeloid and lymphoid leukemias in RF mice. Nat. Cancer Inst. Monograph 22: 329-347 (1966).

- 194. Upton, A. C., A. W. Kimball, J. Furth *et al.* Some delayed effects of atom-bomb radiations in mice. Cancer Res. 20 (8, Part 2): 1-62 (1960).
- 195. Upton, A. C., T. T. Odell Jr. and E. P. Sniffen. Influence of age at time of irradiation on induction of leukemia and ovarian tumors in RF mice. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 104: 769-772 (1960).
- 196. Upton, A. C., M. C. Randolph, E. B. Darden Jr. et al. Relative biological effectiveness of fast neutrons for late somatic effects in mice, p. 337-345 in Biological Effects of Neutron and Proton Irradiations, Vol. 2, IAEA, Vienna, 1964.
- 197. Upton, A. C., M. L. Randolph and J. W. Conklin. Late effects of fast neutrons and gamma rays in mice as influenced by the dose rate of irradiation life shortening. Radiat. Res. 32: 493-509 (1967).
- 198. Upton, A. C., M. L. Randolph and J. W. Conklin. Late effects of fast neutrons and gammarays in mice as influenced by the dose rate of irradiation: induction of neoplasia. Radiat. Res. 41: 467-491 (1970).
- 199. Upton, A. C., F. F. Wolff, J. Furth et al. A comparison of the induction of myeloid and lymphoid leukemias in x-radiated RF mice. Cancer Res. 18: 842-848 (1958).
- 200. Upton, A. C., F. F. Wolff and E. P. Sniffen. Leukemogenic effect of myleran on the mouse thymus. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 108: 464-467 (1961).
- 201. Van Cleave, C. D. Late Somatic Effects of Ionizing Radiation, p. 78-149. USAEC, Div. Technical Information, 1968.
- 202. van Putten, L. M. Treatment of radiostrontium intoxication in mice. II. Survival and bone tumor frequency. Int. J. Radiat. Biol. 5: 477-484 (1961).
- 203. van Putten, L. M. Influence of mouse age on bone-tumor frequency from ingested strontium-90, p. 337-344 in Radiation-Induced Cancer, IAEA, Vienna, 1969.
- 204. Vaughan, Janet. Effects of skeletal irradiations. Clin. Orthop. Related Res. 56: 283-303 (1968).
- 205. Vesselinovitch, S. D. Urethan and Leukemogenesis. Cancer Bull. Tex. Ed. 19: 74-75 (1967).
- 206. Vogel, H. H. Jr. Mammary gland neoplasms after fission neutron irradiation. Nature 222: 1279-1281 (1969).
- 207. Vogel, H. H. Jr. and R. Zaldivar. Experimental mammary neoplasms: a comparison of effectiveness between neutrons, x- and gamma-radiation, p. 207-229 in Proc. Symposium on Neutrons in Radiobiology. USAEC, Div. Technical Information, Oak Ridge, Tenn., 1969.
- 208. Walburg, H. E., Jr. (Unpublished.)
- 209. Walburg, H. E., Jr., G. E. Cosgrove and A. C. Upton. Influence of microbial environment on development of myeloid leukemia in x-irradiated RFM mice. Int. J. Cancer 3: 150-154 (1968).

- 210. Walburg, H. E., Jr. and G. E. Cosgrove. Life shortening and cause of death in irradiated germfree mice, p. 49-67 in Proc. First European Symposium on Late Effects of Radiation. P. Metalli (ed.). Comitato Nazionale Energia Nucleare, Roma, 1970.
- Warren, S. and R. N. Chute. Radiation-induced osteogenic sarcoma in parabiont rats. Lab. Invest. 12: 1041-1045 (1963).
- 212. Warren, S. and Olive Gates. Radiation-induced cancer on the esophagus as an experimental model. Cancer Bull. 20 (5-6): 57-59 (1968).
- 213. Warren, S. and Olive Gates. Cancers induced in different species by continuous γ-radiation. Arch. Environ. Health 17: 697-704 (1968).
- Wright, J. F. Pathologic effects of continuous ⁸⁹Sr ingestion in mice: a preliminary report. University of California, Davis, Radiobiology Laboratory. annual report UCD-472-116, p. 96-99 (1969).
- 215. Yokoro, K. Radiation carcinogenesis with special reference to the induction of osteogenic sarcomas by internal and external irradiations. Acta Pathol. Jap. 17: 348-350 (1967).
- Yokoro, K. and N. Imamura. Role of radiation in viral leukemogenesis. Acta Haemat. Japon. 32: 126-134 (1969).
- 217. Александров, С. Н. и К. Ф. Галковская. Влияние мощности дозы лучевого воздействия на частоту возникновения новообразований кровотворной системы у мышей. Вопр. Онкол. 9 (3): 40—44 (1963).
- 218. Александров, С. Н. и К. Ф. Галковская. Частота возникновения лейкозов при однократном и фракционированном облучении. Докл. Акад. Наук СССР 149:194—197 (1963).
- 219. Белоусова, О. И. и В. Н. Стрельцова. Острый лейкоз у морских свинок в отдаленном периоде после хронического облучения. Бюлл. Эксп. Биол. Мед. 9:85—87 (1967).
- 220. Димант, И. Н. и другие. Материалы к изучению бластомогенного действия понизирующей радиации на тканевые структуры центральной нервной системы. Арх. Анат. Гистол. Эмбриол. 51 (12):61—70 (1966).
- 221. Димант, И. Н., Г. М. Локтпонов и М. М. Сатаев. Индукция радиоактивным кобальтом опухолей оболочек спинного мозга у кроликов. Вопр. Онкол. 11 (5):46—53 (1965).
- 222. Губарева, А. В. Влияние однократного и фракционированного облучения на возникновение предопухолевых и ранних опухолевых процессов в яичниках мышей. Бюлл. Эксп. Биол. Мед. 65 (4):83—84 (1968).

- 223. Губарева, А. В., К. Ф. Галковская и Т. И. Курбатова. Арх. Анат. Гистол. и Эмбриол. 56 (6):57-60 (1969).
- 224. Ким, В. Х. О влияния бета-радиация на кожный канцерогенез, вызванный у крыс 9,10 диметил — 1,2 — бензантраценом. Вестн. АМН СССР 19:36—41 (1964).
- 225. Лемберг, В. К., Н. А. Кошурникова, А. П. Нифатов и др. Влияние дополнительных патологических факторов на отдаленные последствия ²³⁹Ри, стр. 383—391 в кн. Ю. И. Москалев, Распределение и биологические действия радиоактивных изотопов. Атомиздат. Москва, 1966.
- 226. Литвинов, Н. Н. Радиационные пораженя костной системы. Изд. Медицина, Москва (1964).
- 227. Лукаш, Н. И. Понижение сопротивляемости мышей к бластомогенному действию уретана после их общего облучения малыми дозами гаммалучей. Доклады Акад. Наук СССР 62:947—949, 1956.
- Малинина, Н. К., В. И. Поникаров и Д. К. Попов. К определению поглощения скелетом энергии β-частиц некоторых изотопов при экспериментальном канцерогенезе. Вопр. Онкол. 13 (1):56—59 (1967).
- 229. Москалев, Ю. И. (ред.). Распределение и биологическое действие радиоактивных изотопов. Атомиздат, Москва, 1966.
- 230. Москалев, Ю. И., И. К. Петрович, В. Н. Стрельцова. О влиянии условий облучения на частоту и скорость возникновения опухолей молочных желез у крыс. Бюлл. Эксп. Биол. Мед. 67 (4): 95—99 (1969).
- 231. Москалев, Ю. Н. и В. Н. Стрельцова. Лучевой канцерогенез и проблема восстановления. Мед. радиол. 10:40—47 (1965).
- 232. Свидерская, Т. А., С. Н. Александров и А. В. Губарева. Влияние гамма-радиации на индукцию опухолей ультрафиолетовыми лучами. Вопр. Онкол. 15 (3):83—87 (1969).
- 233. Святухин. М. В., П. Г. Жеребченко. Ю. Д. Сорокина. В кн. Патогенез, экспериментальная профилактика и терапия лучевых поражений. Медицина, Москва, 123—131, 1964.
- 234. Смирнов, Р. В. Частота развития миелондных лейкозов у мышей в зависимости от дозы внешнего гамма-облучения. Вопр. Онкол. 8 (10): 59—64 (1962).
- 235. Турусов, В. С. Опухоли кожи, вызываемые у крыс β-излучением радиоактивного церия. Вестник АМН СССР, 19:87—92, 1964.
- 236. Турусов, В. С. Канцерогенное действие 7, 12 — диметилбенз (а) антрацена на предварительно облученную кожу. Вопр. Онкол. 14 (8): 66—71 (1968).

